0	4
	١
ш	
I	
S	
α	
ш	
>	
Ĺ	

Eversheds LLP Bridgewater Place Water Lane Leeds LS11 5DR United Kingdom

T: +44 20 7497 9797 F: +44 20 7919 4919 DX 12027 Leeds-27

eversheds.com

Dated:	2016
Dateu.	2010
A Collaboration Agreen	nent – for the ACRO Criminal Records Office

National Police Collaboration Agreement Relating to the ACRO Criminal Records Office (ACRO) under Section 22A of the Police Act 1996

Ref: cooperrz Date: 20 June 2016 not_l001\4045038\26

CONTENTS

Clause		Page
1	DEFINITIONS AND INTERPRETATION	7
2	COMMENCEMENT DATE	12
3	OBJECTIVES OF THE AGREEMENT	13
4	GOVERNANCE AND REVIEW OF THE TERMS OF THE AGREEMENT	14
5	POLICIES	15
6	FOCUS AND FUNCTIONS TO BE CARRIED OUT BY ACRO, INCLUDING RESPONSIBILITIES	16
7	THE HAMPSHIRE CONSTABULARY AS THE HOST FORCE	16
8	ACCOUNTABILITY AND DIRECTION AND CONTROL OF ACRO AND THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE OF ACRO	17
9	OBLIGATIONS ON THE OTHER PARTIES TO THIS AGREEMENT	18
10	ASSETS	19
11	CONTRACTS	20
12	FUNDING AND SERVICE PLANNING	20
13	EMPLOYEES AND POLICE OFFICERS	22
14	TUPE	23
15	LAND	23
16	DISPUTE RESOLUTION	23
17	LIABILITIES IN RELATION TO THE RUNNING OF ACRO	23
18	INDEMNITY	24
19	INDEMNITY IN RELATION TO THE HOSTING ARRANGEMENT	25
20	INSURANCE	25
21	TERMINATION OF THE AGREEMENT	25
22	NOVATION AND ASSIGNMENT	26
23	CONFIDENTIALITY	26
24	DATA PROTECTION ACT, FREEDOM OF INFORMATION ACT AND ENVIRONMENTAL INFORMATION REGULATIONS	27
25	RECORDS	27
26	PUBLICITY	28
27	INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY	28
28	AUDIT AND INSPECTION	28
29	COMPLAINT	28
30	NOTICES	29
31	WAIVER	29
32	CONTRACTS (RIGHTS OF THIRD PARTIES) ACT 1999	29
33	INVALIDITY/SEVERABILITY	29
34	ENTIRE AGREEMENT	29
35	EQUALITY AND DIVERSITY	30
36	FURTHER ASSURANCE	30

1

37	GOVERNING LAW AND JURISDICTION	30
38	CONTINUANCE IN FORCE	30
39	COUNTERPARTS	30
Sche	edules	
1	Detailed Activities	31
2	Accountability and Governance	34
3	Licences in respect of premises and Information Technology	38
4	Dispute Resolution	39
5	Funding	40
6	Insurance	44
7	Communication Protocol	45

THIS DEED OF AGREEMENT is made on

BETWEEN THE FOLLOWING CHIEF OFFICERS

(1)	The Chief Constable of Avon and Somerset Constabulary
(2)	The Chief Constable of Bedfordshire Police
(3)	The Chief Constable of Cambridgeshire Constabulary
(4)	The Chief Constable of Cheshire Constabulary
(5)	The Commissioner of Police for the City of London
(6)	The Chief Constable of Cleveland
(7)	The Chief Constable of Cumbria Constabulary
(8)	The Chief Constable of Devon & Cornwall Police
(9)	The Chief Constable of Derbyshire Constabulary
(10)	The Chief Constable of Dorset Police
(11)	The Chief Constable of Durham Constabulary
(12)	The Chief Constable of Dyfed-Powys Police
(13)	The Chief Constable of Essex Police
(14)	The Chief Constable of Gloucestershire Constabulary
(15)	The Chief Constable of Greater Manchester Police
(16)	The Chief Constable of Gwent Police
(17)	The Chief Constable of Hampshire Constabulary
(18)	The Chief Constable of Hertfordshire Constabulary
(19)	The Chief Constable of Humberside Police
(20)	The Chief Constable of Kent Police
(21)	The Chief Constable of Lancashire Constabulary
(22)	The Chief Constable of Leicestershire Police
(23)	The Chief Constable of Lincolnshire Police
(24)	The Chief Constable of Merseyside Police
(25)	The Commissioner of Police of the Metropolis
(26)	The Chief Constable of Norfolk Constabulary
(27)	The Chief Constable of North Wales Police
(28)	The Chief Constable of North Yorkshire Police
(29)	The Chief Constable of Northamptonshire Police

(30)	The Chief Constable of Northumbria Police
(31)	The Chief Constable of Nottinghamshire Police
(32)	The Chief Constable of South Wales Police
(33)	The Chief Constable of South Yorkshire Police
(34)	The Chief Constable of Staffordshire Police
(35)	The Chief Constable of Suffolk Constabulary
(36)	The Chief Constable of Surrey Police
(37)	The Chief Constable of Sussex Police
(38)	The Chief Constable of Thames Valley Police
(39)	The Chief Constable of Warwickshire Police
(40)	The Chief Constable of West Mercia Police
(41)	The Chief Constable of West Midlands Police
(42)	The Chief Constable of West Yorkshire Police
(43)	The Chief Constable of Wiltshire Police
BETWE	EN THE FOLLOWING POLICE AND CRIME COMMISSIONERS
(44)	Police and Crime Commissioner for Avon and Somerset
(45)	Police and Crime Commissioner for Bedfordshire
(46)	Police and Crime Commissioner for Cambridgeshire
(47)	Police and Crime Commissioner for Cheshire
(48)	The Common Council of the City of London in its capacity as Police Authority
(49)	Police and Crime Commissioner for Cleveland
(50)	Police and Crime Commissioner for Cumbria
(51)	Police and Crime Commissioner for Derbyshire
(52)	Police and Crime Commissioner for Devon & Cornwall
(53)	Police and Crime Commissioner for Dorset
(54)	Police and Crime Commissioner for Durham
(55)	Police and Crime Commissioner for Dyfed-Powys
(56)	Police and Crime Commissioner for Essex
(57)	Police and Crime Commissioner for Gloucestershire
(58)	Police and Crime Commissioner for Greater Manchester
(59)	Police and Crime Commissioner for Gwent

(60)	Police and Crime Commissioner for Hampshire	
(61)	Police and Crime Commissioner for Hertfordshire	
(62)	Police and Crime Commissioner for Humberside	
(63)	Police and Crime Commissioner for Kent	
(64)	Police and Crime Commissioner for Lancashire	
(65)	Police and Crime Commissioner for Leicestershire	
(66)	Police and Crime Commissioner for Lincolnshire	
(67)	Police and Crime Commissioner for Merseyside	
(68)	The Mayor's Office for Policing and Crime	
(69)	Police and Crime Commissioner for Norfolk	
(70)	Police and Crime Commissioner for North Wales	
(71)	Police and Crime Commissioner for North Yorkshire	
(72)	Police and Crime Commissioner for Northamptonshire	
(73)	Police and Crime Commissioner for Northumbria	
(74)	Police and Crime Commissioner for Nottinghamshire	
(75)	Police and Crime Commissioner for South Wales	
(76)	Police and Crime Commissioner for South Yorkshire	
(77)	Police and Crime Commissioner for Staffordshire	
(78)	Police and Crime Commissioner for Suffolk	
(79)	Police and Crime Commissioner for Surrey	
(80)	Police and Crime Commissioner for Sussex	
(81)	Police and Crime Commissioner for Thames Valley	
(82)	Police and Crime Commissioner for Warwickshire	
(83)	Police and Crime Commissioner for West Mercia	
(84)	Police and Crime Commissioner for West Midlands	
(85)	Police and Crime Commissioner for West Yorkshire	
(86)	Police and Crime Commissioner for Wiltshire	
(together the "Parties")		

RECITALS

(A) Following the review of the Association of Chief Police Officers (ACPO) by General Sir Nick Parker, the ACRO Criminal Records Office (ACRO) was identified as having an essential responsibility for the delivery of its core areas of expertise. However, it was agreed that

future public funding was to be reorganised in some cases, so as to align more effectively with individual force contributions. Police and Crime Commissioners (PCCs) were invited to review the continuation of ACRO and the hosting arrangements. The PCCs agreed that ACRO continues to offer value for money and that the hosting provision currently in place with Hampshire Constabulary should be retained.

- (B) In order to ensure that ACRO can continue to be sustained, it is necessary to provide a vehicle to ensure that collaborative and co-ordinated policing activity can take place. For this purpose, the Parties, with the support of the Home Secretary have agreed to deliver national services for ACRO, which shall be hosted by the Hampshire Constabulary (the "Host Force"). Direction and Control in relation to ACRO shall rest with the Chief Officer of Hampshire Police.
- (C) This Agreement is made pursuant to Section 22A Police Act 1996 (as amended) which enables police forces, local policing bodies as defined in that Act and other parties as defined in that Act to make an agreement about the discharge of functions by officers and staff, where it is in the interests of the efficiency or effectiveness of their own and other police force areas. By entering into this Agreement, the Parties have taken account of the statutory guidance for police collaboration published by the Home Office in October 2012 in exercise of the Home Secretary's power under Section 23F Police Act 1996, to provide guidance about collaboration agreements and related matters.
- (D) The Parties have further taken account of the requirements of Section 24 Police Act 1996 in respect of matters in relation to the mutual aid between forces so as to allow the Police Service of Northern Ireland, Police Scotland and other signatories to this Agreement to participate in this Agreement insofar as they are able to do so, either as a party to this agreement or through other agreements. Initially the arrangements with Scotland and Northern Ireland will be recorded in a side letter.

OPERATIVE PROVISIONS

PART A: ABOUT THE AGREEMENT ITSELF

1. **DEFINITIONS AND INTERPRETATION**

In this Agreement the following expressions have the following meanings unless inconsistent with the context:

"ACPO" the Association of Chief Police Officers;

"ACRO" the ACRO Criminal Records Office;

"ACRO Chief Executive" the person appointed by the Chief Officer of the

Host Force following consideration by the ACRO/UKCA Governance Board and currently

employed by the Hampshire Constabulary;

"ACRO Activities" the activities to be carried out by the Host Force in

relation to ACRO as further set out in the terms of this Agreement (including **Schedule 1** to this Agreement) which shall include the UKCA-ECR

Activities;

"ACRO/UKCA Governance Board" the body set-up and operating in accordance with

clause 4 and Schedule 2;

"Agreed Level of Reserve" the agreed level of the reserve from time to time

which shall be determined pursuant to clause

17.2;

"Agreement" the terms of this agreement as agreed between the

Parties;

"Assets" all tangible and non tangible assets (including land,

buildings, equipment and assets) which are required for the purposes of carrying out ACRO Activities and for the purposes of this Agreement;

"ARC" the Audit and Risk Committee;

"ARC Chair" the Chair of the Audit and Risk Committee;

"Chief Constables' Council" the senior operational decision-making body for the

National Police Chiefs' Council being the mechanism by which all the Chief Officers of police (as defined by Section 101 Police Act 1996 (as amended)) consider national operational matters and have commissioned the continued provision of

the ACRO Activities;

"Chief Officer" a Chief Officer of police as defined under Section

101 of the Police Act 1996 (as amended);

"College of Policing" the professional body for policing that supports the

training and development of police officers and

police staff;

"Direction and Control" means the arrangements established for the day to

day operational management of police officers and police staff and the control which is exercised over police officers and staff by the Chief Officer of the

Police Force by which they are appointed (as used by Sub Section 9A & 10 Police Act 1996 (as amended));

"DPA"

the Data Protection Act 1998 implementing the EU Personal Data Directive 95/46/EC and all applicable related and/or secondary Legislation and regulations, including the Criminal Justice and Data Protection (Protocol 36) Regulations 2014, together with all related EU Commission, Article 29 Working Party, responsible HM Government Department and/or Information Commissioner's Office regulatory opinions, codes of practice and guidance, all as may be updated, amended and replaced from time to time;

"ECRIS"

the European Criminal Record Information System;

"Effective Date"

the date upon which the last signatory signs this Agreement;

"EIR"

the Environmental Information Regulations 2004 and all applicable related and secondary Legislation and regulations, together with all related EU Commission, responsible HM Government Department, and/or Information Commissioner's Office regulatory opinions, codes of practice and guidance, all as may be updated, amended and replaced from time to time;

"Exit Strategy"

the exit strategy to be prepared by the ACRO/UKCA Governance Board in consultation with the Host Force which shall set out what shall happen on the termination of this Agreement in relation to assets, staff, third party contracts, intellectual property, leases, licence or other arrangements in respect of premises and shared equipment;

"Financial Year"

a year commencing on 1 April in each calendar year and expiring on 31 March in the following year provided that the first Financial Year shall commence on the date of this Agreement and shall expire on the following 31 March and the last Financial Year shall commence on the 1 April of that final year and expire on the date that this Agreement terminates or expires;

"FOIA"

the Freedom of Information Act 2000 and all applicable related and secondary Legislation and regulations, together with all related responsible HM Government Department and/or Information Commissioner's Office regulatory codes of practice and guidance, all as may be updated, amended and replaced from time to time;

"FSS Allocation"

the formula spending share allocation which is the percentage of any funding, expense or liability that is to be paid by a Policing Body as set out in table 2 of **Schedule 5**;

"Governance Arrangements"

the governance arrangements for the purposes of ACRO as further described in **Schedule 2**;

"Head of ACRO"

the person appointed by the Chief Officer of the Host Force and employed by the Host Force who shall have the rank of a Superintendent;

"Health and Safety"

all health and safety requirements which shall include the Food Safety Act 1990 (and associated regulations), the Health and Safety at Work etc. Act 1974 (and associated regulations), the Fire Precautions Act 1971, the Environmental Protection Act 1998, the Water Industry Act 1991, the Water Resources Act 1991 and any similar or analogous health, safety or environmental legislation in force from time to time;

"Home Secretary"

the person appointed as the Home Secretary by the Government with responsibility for policing and related matters;

"Host Force"

shall have the meaning given to it in **Recital (B)** of this Agreement;

"HR"

Human Resources;

"ICT"

Information Communications Technology;

"Intellectual Property Rights"

all intellectual and industrial property rights of any kind whatsoever, including patents, supplementary protection certificates, rights in know-how, registered trade marks, registered designs, models, unregistered design rights, unregistered trade marks, rights to prevent passing off or unfair competition and copyright (whether in drawings, specifications, designs and computer plans, software or otherwise), database riahts, topography rights, any rights in any invention, discovery or process, and applications for and rights to apply for any of the foregoing, in each case in the United Kingdom and all other countries in the world and together with all renewals, extensions, continuations, divisions, reissues, reexaminations and substitutions;

"International Child Protection Certificates"

certificates issued by ACRO on behalf of the National Crime Agency (NCA) Child Exploitation and Online Protection Command (CEOP) to UK nationals or foreign nationals who have spent time living in the UK, seeking employment or volunteer work with children overseas;

"Legal Services"

services provided by legally qualified practitioners;

"Legislation"

any law, statute, subordinate legislation within the meaning of Section 21 (1) of the Interpretation Act 1978, bye-law, enforceable right within the meaning of Section 2 of the European Communities Act 1972, regulation, order, mandatory guidance or code of practice, judgment of a relevant court of law, or directives or requirements of any regulatory

body with which the relevant Party to this Agreement is bound to comply;

"Letter of Comfort"

any letter of comfort provided by the Home Secretary in connection with designated Statutory authority between the Home Secretary and the Chief Constable of Hampshire for the delivery of the United Kingdom Central Authority for the Exchange of Criminal Records (UKCA-ECR);

"Liability"

all damages, losses, liabilities, claims, actions, judgements and expenses (including reasonable legal costs and expenses and including any excesses payable under any relevant insurance policy), proceedings, demands and charges arising under statute, contract or common law (whether in relation to criminal law, civil law, employment claims, premises liabilities or otherwise);

"Material"

all data, text, graphics, images and other materials or documents created, used or supplied for or referable to the ACRO Activities and/or generated in the course of delivering the ACRO Activities by or for any of the Police Bodies in connection with this Agreement unless before the first use or supply, the relevant Policing Body notifies the others that the data or, text supplied is not to be covered by this definition;

"Material Assets"

an Asset which has a value of £500.00 or more;

"National Crime Agency ("NCA")"

the National Crime Agency, responsible for the investigation of international and national serious organised crime;

"National Police Chiefs' Council ("NPCC")"

the body known as the National Police Chiefs' Council formed with the support of Police and Crime Commissioners and Chief Officers which holds a number of core responsibilities approved by the Home Secretary and is hosted by the Metropolitan Police pursuant to a Section 22(a) Collaboration Agreement;

"NPoCC"

the National Police Co-ordination Centre;

"Police Certificates"

the documents provided to UK nationals and foreign nationals who have spent time living in the UK to assist individuals with applications to secure Visa documents from primarily the American, Canadian, South African, Australian and New Zealand Embassies and High Commissions.;

"Police & Crime Commissioner"

a police and crime commissioner in accordance with Section 1 of the Police Reform and Social Responsibility Act 2011

"Police Force"

each and all (as the context permits) of the police forces (as defined by the Police Act 1996 (as amended) in England, Wales and Northern Ireland;

"Policing Body"

all Police and Crime Commissioners, the Mayor's Office for Policing and Crime (MOPAC) or the

Common Council of the City of London in England

and any relevant Police Authorities;

"Police National Computer ("PNC")" the police national computer database of

information for operational policing available at all times to all police forces and some law enforcement

agencies;

"Police Officer" a police officer of a Police Force who are under the

Direction and Control of their applicable Chief

Officer;

"Procurement" the purchase of goods and services in accordance

with national legislation;

"PSNI" Police Service Northern Ireland;

"Scheme of Governance" the governance arrangements for Hampshire

Police;

"Service Plan" the planning document prepared further to

clause 12.2;

"Strategy" the strategy document prepared further to

clause 12.2;

"Strategic Policing Requirements" the document issued by the Secretary of State,

from time to time, setting out the matters prescribed in Section 37A of the Police Act 1996 (as introduced by Section 77 of the Police Reform and

Social Responsibility Act 2011);

"Superintendent" a police officer of the rank of a Superintendent;

"Support Services" the provision of human resources services,

information technology, finance services, procurement services and legal services and such other services of a professional support nature that the Parties may agree from time to time should be

provided by the Host Force;

"Term" the term of this Agreement as determined in

accordance with clause 2.1;

"TUPE" Transfer of Undertakings (Protection of

Employment) Regulations 2006 as amended;

"UKCA-ECR" the United Kingdom Central Authority for the

Exchange of Criminal Records (UKCA-ECR) which is situated within ACRO and has performed criminal record exchange with the 27 other EU Member

States since May 2006; and

"UKCA-ECR Activities" the activities to be carried out by ACRO in relation

to UKCA-ECR as further set out in Schedule 1.

1.1 Reference to any laws, orders, regulations or other similar instrument shall be construed as a reference to such laws or subordinate legislation, orders, regulations or instrument as amended, supplemented or replaced by any subsequent law, order, regulation or instruments or subordinate legislation or as contained in a subsequent re-enactment thereof.

- 1.2 The masculine shall include the feminine and the neuter and the singular the plural and vice versa as the context shall admit or require.
- 1.3 References to persons will be construed so as to include bodies corporate, partnerships, unincorporated associations, trusts, statutory, local government quasi-public and non-governmental bodies.
- 1.4 References to clauses and Schedules are to clauses of and Schedules to this Agreement.
- 1.5 References to the Parties are to the parties to this Agreement.
- 1.6 The Schedules and the Appendices to any Schedule form part of this Agreement and will have the same force and effect as if expressly set out in the body of this Agreement.
- 1.7 The background information section of this Agreement and the headings to the clauses of and Schedules to this Agreement are for ease of reference only and shall not affect the construction of this Agreement.
- 1.8 Any phrase in this Agreement introduced by the term "include", "includes", "includes", "includes", "included", "in particular" and "for example" will be construed without limitation unless inconsistent with the context.
- 1.9 This Agreement is drawn up in the English language and may be translated into any language other than English provided, however, that the English language text shall in any event prevail in interpreting this Agreement.
- 1.10 The words "as amended" or "as varied" shall be construed to be meant in each case as amended or varied pursuant to this Agreement unless the context otherwise permits.
- 1.11 The Parties agree that each Chief Officer and each Policing Body enters into this Agreement in their capacity as such under Section 1 and Section 2 of the Police Reform and Social Responsibility Act 2011, section 6ZAZA of the Police Act 1996 or Section 3 of the City of London Police Act 1839 and not as individuals.
- 1.12 The Parties agree that the Chief Officer of the Host Force and the Policing Body of the Host Force are a party to this Agreement both in their capacity as a Chief Officer and a Policing Body (in the same manner in which the other parties to this Agreement are a Chief Officer or a Policing Body) and in their capacity as the Host Force.
- 1.13 The Parties recognise and agree that they collaborate together not just for the benefit of themselves, but also for the benefit of the Police Service of Scotland and the Police Service of Northern Ireland.

2. **COMMENCEMENT DATE**

- 2.1 The Agreement shall take effect from the Effective Date and shall continue indefinitely until the Parties agree pursuant to **clause 21** that this Agreement should be terminated. Although this Agreement shall take effect from the Effective Date, the Parties acknowledge that the arrangement set out in this Agreement commenced on 1 April 2015. The Parties agree that should any Liability arise between 1 April 2015 and the Effective Date, that Liability shall be shared between the Parties on the terms set out in this Agreement and the provisions of this Agreement shall apply to such Liability.
- 2.2 The Parties shall review the terms of this Agreement every three (3) years (including as to whether this Agreement should continue) and shall make any agreed amendments to the terms of this Agreement.
- 2.3 Notwithstanding the provisions of **clause 2.1**, the Parties acknowledge that the arrangement for the Host Force to host the functions carried out by ACRO is intended to be a permanent arrangement but that the Parties shall review this hosting arrangement on a three (3) year cycle.

- 2.4 Subject to **clause 7.2**, the Parties intend that Hampshire Constabulary will host the ACRO Activities for the duration of this Agreement and that no other Police Force shall be required to host the ACRO Activities.
- 2.5 Subject to **clauses 7.3** and **7.4**, any party is entitled to withdraw from the Agreement on giving to all other parties one (1) years written notice of their intention to withdraw and such notice shall be deemed to have been served on the date of the next Chief Constables' Council meeting and shall expire one year after that date. Such notice shall include details of the reason why the relevant Party wishes to exit from the terms of this Agreement, how they will continue to ensure that there is effective policing within the relevant Police Force and how they will comply with the Strategic Policing Requirement. That Party shall cease to be a Party to this Agreement on the expiry of the relevant notice unless an alternative date is agreed between the Parties. For the purposes of **clause 2.5**, both the Chief Officer and the Policing Body for a Police Force must withdraw from the Agreement at the same time otherwise their notice will not be deemed to be effective. If a Police Force withdraws from the terms of this Agreement, the Police Force who has withdrawn from the terms of this Agreement shall have no further right to receive the ACRO Activities.
- 2.6 If a Party withdraws from the Agreement pursuant to **clause 2.5**:
 - 2.6.1 such Party shall continue to be responsible for its proportion of any Liabilities arising after the date on which they exit the Agreement and which have arisen due to events occurring during the time that they were a party to this Agreement pursuant to clauses 17, 18 and 19;
 - 2.6.2 such Party shall not be liable for any Liabilities that arise after the date on which that Party exits the Agreement and which are due to events arising after the date on which that Party exits the Agreement;
 - 2.6.3 that Party shall have no further Liabilities to the other Parties pursuant to the terms of this Agreement other than as set out in **clause 2.6.1**; and
 - 2.6.4 the remaining Parties to this Agreement shall agree any required amendments to the funding of this Agreement and the FSS Allocation on the assumption that the remaining Parties to this Agreement shall meet one hundred per cent of the ACRO budget and one hundred per cent of the Liabilities under this Agreement.
- 2.7 If a number of Police Forces who provide a substantial part of the funding for ACRO withdraw from the terms of this Agreement meaning that the funding for ACRO is likely to be compromised, the ACRO Chief Executive or the Chief Officer of the Host Force shall escalate the matter for discussion at NPCC. In addition the Home Office will be notified of the potential impact on ACRO to function.
- 2.8 **Clause 7.3** and **7.4** sets out the position of a Host Force wishes to withdraw from its role as a Host Force.

3. **OBJECTIVES OF THE AGREEMENT**

- 3.1 The key objectives of this Agreement are to set up and define the functions and responsibilities of ACRO as defined within **Schedule 1** of this Agreement and to ensure that ACRO is provided in a way that delivers high quality, efficient and effective services constituting value for money and meeting the needs of partners and stakeholders.
- 3.2 It is agreed that ACRO will be managed as a separate unit within the Host Force with its own ringfenced account (which shall form part of the overall accounts for the Host Force), designated budgets and reserves, with freedom to operate within the boundaries of this Agreement and plans and procedures as approved by respective governance arrangements. It is acknowledged by the Parties that ACRO is not a legal entity in its own right.
- 3.3 The Parties agree that the ACRO Activities are being provided to further protect the public. All Parties shall look for opportunities to collaborate and share services where this is appropriate in the circumstances and saves police funds.

4. GOVERNANCE AND REVIEW OF THE TERMS OF THE AGREEMENT

General issues in relation to governance

- 4.1 ACRO will be set up pursuant to the arrangements as defined in **Schedule 2** (Accountability and Governance) and will be governed accordingly.
- 4.2 The Parties agree that the governance arrangements for the Agreement need to allow business as usual to take place effectively, efficiently and swiftly.
- 4.3 The ACRO/UKCA Governance Board will be established pursuant to the terms set out in **Schedule 2** (Accountability and Governance) to have oversight of the decisions of the Chief Executive of ACRO and to recommend courses of action to the Chief Officer of the Host Force in relation to the ACRO Activities.
- The Parties shall procure that the ACRO/UKCA Governance Board shall be consulted on strategic decisions and be asked to make referrals and recommendations to the Chief Officer of Hampshire. The Parties shall also procure that the ACRO/UKCA Governance Board refers matters to the Chief Constables' Council when requested and where the matter is determined as being relevant to be referred to the Chief Constables' Council. The Parties agree that (without limitation) the following matters may be appropriate to be referred to the Chief Constables' Council: agreement of the Service Plan; agreement of the budget pursuant to **clause 12** where there is an expectation of a contribution from forces; performance of the International Crime Conviction Exchange.
- With regard to the delivery of the UKCA-ECR, the Home Secretary has designated responsibility to deliver the UKCA-ECR to the Chief Constable of Hampshire Constabulary as set out in section 64 of The Criminal Justice and Data Protection (Protocol No. 36) Regulations 2014 (Statutory Instrument 2014 No 3141) The Parties agree that it is within the power of the Chief Constable of Hampshire to appoint the ACRO Chief Executive of ACRO to carry out this responsibility on their behalf. The Parties acknowledge that the Home Secretary may provide a Letter of Comfort to the Chief Constable of Hampshire in relation to this.
- The Parties agree that this Agreement shall be reviewed by the ACRO/UKCA Governance Board or such other third party organisation as the Parties agree on a date no later than three (3) years after the Effective Date and thereafter on at least three (3) yearly intervals. The purpose of such review is to establish whether any amendments are required to the governance structure for ACRO, what the funding requirements will be and what the structure will be for the subsequent three years. Any appropriate and agreed amendments shall be made by the Parties to this Agreement following consideration by the ACRO/UKCA Governance Board.
- 4.7 Subject to **clause 4.10**, the Parties shall be entitled to propose a variation to the Agreement by presenting a proposal to the ACRO/UKCA Governance Board for consideration with appropriate information to allow a variation to be properly considered.
- The Parties acknowledge that not every Party to this Agreement shall be personally represented on the ACRO/ UKCA Governance Board and that this reflects the way in which decisions are made by the ACRO/UKCA Governance Board as at the date of this Agreement. If any Party is not represented on the ACRO/UKCA Governance Board, that Party shall be entitled to raise any issues, queries, representations or concerns with the ACRO Chief Executive prior to any meeting of the ACRO/UKCA Governance Board. The ACRO Chief Executive shall use reasonable endeavours to ensure that such issues, queries, representations or concerns are put to the ACRO/UKCA Governance Board and shall, so far as is reasonably practicable, provide feedback to the relevant Party on the decisions taken by the ACRO/UKCA Governance Board.
- 4.9 The Parties shall use all reasonable endeavours to ensure that there is continuous improvement and review of the responsibilities to be carried out by ACRO to ensure that the objectives of this Agreement can be achieved. The Parties shall procure that the ACRO/UKCA Governance Board shall continually review the arrangements for ACRO to ensure that any required efficiency savings are met and that value for money is achieved.

- 4.10 The Parties acknowledge and agree that this Agreement will need to be managed flexibly from time to time (without making changes to the terms of this Agreement) in accordance with the governance structure to accommodate:
 - 4.10.1 changing demands;
 - 4.10.2 the practical requirements and day to day running of ACRO; and
 - 4.10.3 the requirements of the NPCC.
- 4.11 If it is agreed pursuant to the Governance Arrangements for ACRO that an amendment is required to the terms of this Agreement, then, subject to **clause 4.12**, this Agreement shall be amended accordingly.
- 4.12 The Parties agree that if any minor amendments are required to the terms of this Agreement, then such amendments may be approved by the ACRO/UKCA Governance Board and the Chief Officer of the Host Force. Where an amendment is required to this Agreement which is over and above a minor amendment (which shall be determined by the ACRO/UKCA Governance Board and the Chief Officer of the Host Force), such amendments shall be approved by all of the Parties to this Agreement. For the avoidance of doubt, any change to the FSS Allocation shall not be deemed to be a minor amendment and shall require the approval of all of the Parties to this Agreement.
- 4.13 Any amendments to this Agreement shall be documented and signed on behalf of all relevant Parties by the ACRO/ UKCA Governance Board.

Governance in relation to ACRO

The role of the ACRO/UKCA Governance Board shall be to advise, guide and support the Chief Officer of Hampshire and the ACRO Chief Executive to deliver their responsibilities under this Agreement, it being acknowledged that although the Chief Officer of Hampshire shall take account of the views of the ACRO/UKCA Governance Board and shall wherever possible follow the recommendation of the ACRO/UKCA Governance Board the Chief Officer of Hampshire shall retain Direction and Control in relation to ACRO/UKCA and shall be entitled to make a decision which is contrary to the decision made by the ACRO/UKCA Governance Board.

5. **POLICIES**

- 5.1 Subject to **clause 8**, the Chief Executive of ACRO shall be responsible for determining how operational activities shall be carried out. The Parties shall procure that ACRO shall comply with Host Force policy and procedures with regard to the Support Services including financial regulations, and contract standing orders.
- The Parties to this Agreement shall follow all relevant national policies and procedures as well as and as far as practicable and subject to **clause 5.3** the policies and procedures of the Host Force in respect of the objectives of this Agreement and the handling of data and information. The current process for the development and implementation of national policies which involve the Chief Constables' Council, the College of Policing, the National Crime Agency, the Association of Police and Crime Commissioners and the Home Office will continue on a business as usual basis and the Parties shall ensure that ACRO shall comply with any updated policies.
- It is recognised by the Parties that, due to the nature of the activities carried out by ACRO, there are certain circumstances where the policies of the Host Force in relation to operational activities shall not be appropriate to ACRO and in such circumstances and provided that the Chief Officer of the Host Force has approved the relevant derogations from the policy of the Host Force (having taken into account the recommendations of the ACRO/UKCA Governance Board), the appropriate national policy shall be complied with.

6. FOCUS AND FUNCTIONS TO BE CARRIED OUT BY ACRO, INCLUDING RESPONSIBILITIES

- 6.1 The Parties acknowledge that, prior to the date of this Agreement, the Host Force has been providing support to ACRO on behalf of the Police Service. The Host Force shall continue to provide such support in accordance with the ACRO responsibilities as articulated in **Schedule**1.
- 6.2 It is acknowledged that, without prejudice to the Direction and Control conferred by the relevant Chief Officer as set out in **clause 4**, the Chief Executive of ACRO shall have day to day management and operational control of ACRO and is accountable for the effective delivery of the strategic responsibilities to the ACRO/UKCA Governance Board and the Chief Officer of the Host Force.
- 6.3 The Parties acknowledge that a number of other collaboration agreements (including in relation to the NPCC, the National Counter Terrorism Police Services and NPoCC) have been entered into by some or all of the Parties to this Agreement which are connected with the functions of ACRO and that there may be some duplication between the terms of this Agreement and those other collaboration agreements.
- The Parties agree that ACRO shall, in performing all of its functions in accordance with this Agreement, use reasonable endeavours to have regard to the distinct position which operates within Scotland and Northern Ireland and shall, so far as is practicable, have regard to the views of the Chief Officers of the Police Service of Scotland and the Police Service of Northern Ireland, as appropriate.

7. THE HAMPSHIRE CONSTABULARY AS THE HOST FORCE

- 7.1 Hampshire Constabulary have agreed to be the Host Force for ACRO. The Police and Crime Commissioner and the Chief Officer of the Host Force have agreed the following:
 - 7.1.1 to consent to and where necessary delegate authority for those actions of ACRO that they consider appropriate to the Chief Executive of ACRO (taking into account the role of the Chief Executive of ACRO as set out in **clause 6.2**), taking into account the views of the ACRO/UKCA Governance Board;
 - 7.1.2 to hold land and building/premises for the benefit of ACRO and that the elected Policing Body will enter into any required agreements for the holding or otherwise dealing with land for the benefit of ACRO;
 - 7.1.3 to employ all necessary staff who are required for the purposes of carrying out the functions of ACRO;
 - 7.1.4 to enter into any necessary contracts and/or licences which are required for the purposes of performing the ACRO Activities and to comply with all necessary procurement legislation in relation to the entering into of any such contracts and/or licences (as applicable);
 - 7.1.5 that ACRO will function as a separate business unit of Hampshire Constabulary although shall not be a legal entity in its own right and shall receive from Hampshire Constabulary the provision of Support Services. Any departure from these provisions by the Police and Crime Commissioner and/or Chief Officer of the Host Force as a result of the operational requirements of ACRO will be the subject of prior notification to and discussion with the ACRO/UKCA Governance Board.
- 7.2 The Parties agree that, in relation to the decisions to be taken and actions required from either the Police and Crime Commissioner and/or the Chief Officer of the Host Force, nothing in this Agreement shall override the statutory duties and powers of the Police and Crime Commissioner or the Chief Officer of the Host Force and that all decisions made and actions taken shall be in accordance with **Schedule 2** and the Scheme of Governance.

- 7.3 If the Host Force wishes to withdraw from its role as the Host Force, the Host Force shall serve a notice on the Parties to this Agreement setting out that it wishes to cease the hosting arrangement and the reason for this and in such circumstances, and subject to any other date being agreed by the Parties, the Host Force shall cease its hosting arrangements twelve (12) months from the date of the relevant notice.
- 7.4 If the Host Force serves a notice pursuant to **clause 7.3** the ACRO/UKCA Governance Board (in consultation with the Home Office) shall consider alternative successor arrangements for recommendation to the Parties to this Agreement including whether there is an alternative force or body to host such an arrangement and the Parties shall amend the terms of this Agreement as appropriate to reflect the provisions of the new arrangement and the responsibilities to be agreed by that alternative hosting body. Where the Host Force withdraws from this Agreement, it shall discuss and seek to agree with the ACRO/UKCA Governance Board whether there are any Assets which should be transferred to the alternative hosting body.
- 7.5 If the Parties are unable to find an alternative body to host the arrangement then this Agreement shall terminate on expiry of the twelve months' notice of withdrawal from the Host Force.
- 7.6 The Host Force shall not incur any Liabilities as a result of its decision to withdraw from its role as a Host Force and any Liabilities of the Host Force incurred as a result of the withdrawal or termination of the Host Force shall be met by the Parties in accordance with **clause 17**. For the avoidance of doubt, a Host Force shall be entitled to withdraw from its position as a host force and still continue to be a Party to this Agreement.
- 7.7 The Parties agree that the Host Force shall be entitled to make a charge for the provision of the Support Services (which shall be reasonable taking into account the scope and standard to which the Support Services are provided and shall be subject to the approval of the ACRO/UKCA Governance Board). Such charges shall be met from the ACRO budget.
- 7.8 The Host Force may decide to outsource the provision of some or all of the Support Services to a third party contractor from time to time. In such circumstances:
 - 7.8.1 the Host Force shall use reasonable endeavours to procure that any incoming provider shall maintain the standard of the Support Services that are provided to ACRO; and
 - 7.8.2 the Host Force shall notify the ACRO/UKCA Governance Board of the proposal to outsource the provision of the Support Services and shall take account of the recommendations of the ACRO/UKCA Governance Board.
- 7.9 The Parties agree that any Liabilities that the Host Force incurs due to it carrying out its obligations in this **clause 7** (including liabilities incurred as a result of some or all of the Support Services ceasing to be provided by the Host Force) shall be dealt with in accordance with **clause 17**.

8. ACCOUNTABILITY AND DIRECTION AND CONTROL OF ACRO AND THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE OF ACRO

- 8.1 The Parties acknowledge that the Chief Executive of ACRO has been appointed by the Chief Officer of the Host Force and has been employed by the Host Force. The Parties agree that the Chief Executive of ACRO is authorised to:
 - 8.1.1 lead and manage ACRO; and
 - 8.1.2 lead and manage staff and resources on behalf of the Chief Officer of Hampshire,

in accordance with the agreed Strategy, the Service Plan and budget and the Host Force's policies and procedures as referred to in **clause 12**, and having regard to all advice and guidance received from the relevant ACRO/UKCA Governance Boards and any advice or instruction by the Chief Officer with Direction and Control.

- 8.2 The Parties agree that the responsibility for the Direction and Control of the Chief Executive of ACRO shall be as follows:
 - 8.2.1 the Chief Executive of ACRO shall be under the Direction and Control of the Chief Officer of the Host Force pursuant to section 2(3) of the Police Reform and Social Responsibility Act 2011;
 - 8.2.2 the Chief Officer of the Host Force shall have responsibility for all disciplinary procedures in relation to the Chief Executive of ACRO including the removal of the Chief Executive of ACRO and for all employment decisions in relation to the Chief Executive of ACRO and shall have regard to any feedback received from the relevant ACRO/UKCA Governance Boards in relation to performance or other similar issues; and
 - 8.2.3 the Chief Executive of ACRO shall be entitled to bring any employment claims directly against the Chief Officer of the Host Force.
- 8.3 Where a person is seconded to ACRO or a person forms part of the governance frameworks as further set out in **Schedule 2** but is employed by or is an officer of a force other than the Host Force, the Chief Officer who has appointed such person shall retain Direction and Control of such officers and members of police staff.
- 8.4 Subject to **clause 8.3** all ACRO Staff who are employed by or are officers of the Chief Officer of the Host Force and are appointed to exclusively perform services in order to allow ACRO to achieve their functions shall be under the Direction and Control of the Chief Officer of the Host Force, provided that the day to day management responsibilities of such ACRO staff shall rest with the Chief Executive of ACRO. It is agreed that such persons shall not perform duties on the part of the Host Force and shall be appointed solely to carry out duties in order to allow ACRO to achieve their requirements as further set out under the terms of this Agreement.
- 8.5 All staff who are employed by or are officers of the Host Force and are as part of their day to day role providing services for the benefit of ACRO shall be under the Direction and Control and the day to day management of the Chief Officer of the Host Force.
- 8.6 The Chief Officer of the Police Force or Host Force by which a police officer or member of staff was appointed shall remain responsible for disciplinary proceedings and action, unsatisfactory performance and all pay (including pay increases), welfare, pensions contributions and other employment matters provided that (unless otherwise agreed) where a person is seconded to work for ACRO, the Policing Body of that Police Force shall be reimbursed for all pay and associated costs incurred in accordance with such terms as are agreed under **clause 13.7**.

9. OBLIGATIONS ON THE OTHER PARTIES TO THIS AGREEMENT

- 9.1 The Parties to this Agreement shall act in such a way that promotes the achievement of the objectives of this Agreement as laid out in the relevant Schedules.
- 9.2 The Chief Officers shall:
 - 9.2.1 observe the provisions of this Agreement;
 - 9.2.2 do all things reasonably necessary to assist in the running of ACRO;
 - 9.2.3 do all things reasonably necessary to support the goals and functions of ACRO; and
 - 9.2.4 provide such reasonable assistance to the Host Force in relation to the functions of ACRO or the responsibilities of the Host Force under the terms of this Agreement as it reasonably requires.
- 9.3 The Policing Bodies shall perform the roles which are applicable to them as further set out in **Schedule 1**. The Parties acknowledge the requirement for Chief Officers to remain operationally independent pursuant to the terms of the Policing Protocol Order 2011.

9.4 The Parties shall comply with all applicable Legislation in carrying out their obligations under this Agreement.

10. ASSETS

- 10.1 The Host Force and/or the Police and Crime Commissioner for Hampshire (as applicable) will hold, except where they are subject to third party ownership, all Assets on behalf of ACRO and shall, as far as is reasonably practicable, ensure that these are sufficient for ACRO to meet its operational requirements. The Host Force shall ensure that such Assets are used for the benefit of ACRO and shall not be appropriated for functions that do not form part of ACRO, albeit this does not preclude arrangements from being made for the sharing of assets, for example, the co-location of staff in Host Force accommodation where this would meet the operational needs of ACRO and constitutes the efficient use of resources.
- 10.2 The Host Force shall be responsible for the maintenance and replacement of all Assets.
- 10.3 All Assets, except where they are subject to third party ownership, which are used by ACRO as at the date of this Agreement shall continue to be used by ACRO and shall be held by the Host Force on behalf of ACRO. The Parties agree that there are no Assets as at the date of this Agreement which need to be novated or in any other way transferred to the Host Force.
- 10.4 As at the date of this Agreement, the Host Force and the Police and Crime Commissioner for Hampshire do not anticipate that they will be required to provide or purchase any new Assets for the purposes of providing the ACRO Activities.
- 10.5 If any new Assets are required, the following procedure shall apply:
 - 10.5.1 the Chief Executive of ACRO shall be responsible for identifying if any new Assets are required for the functioning of ACRO including the details of the Assets which are required and the Chief Executive of ACRO shall be entitled to approve the purchase of any new assets up to the cost of £5,000 per asset;
 - any new Assets with a cost in excess of £5,000 per asset (including the cost of such new Assets) shall be agreed and approved by the Chief Officer of the Host Force following consideration and recommendation by the ACRO/UKCA Governance Board;
 - 10.5.3 following approval of the required Assets either by the Chief Executive in accordance with **clause 10.5.1** or in accordance with **clause 10.5.2**, the Host Force shall be responsible for purchasing such agreed new Assets and the maintenance of such Assets in accordance with this **clause 10** and the Police and Crime Commissioner for the Host Force shall enter into any contracts reasonably required in connection with this;
 - 10.5.4 the Host Force shall comply with its own policies in acquiring any new Assets; and
 - 10.5.5 the cost of acquiring any new Assets shall be shared between the Policing Bodies in direct proportion to the FSS Allocation or shall be funded from the reserves detailed in **clause 17.2**.
- 10.6 If any new Asset needs to be purchased which has a cost of over £150,000 (an "Exceptional Asset") the ACRO Chief Executive shall, as soon as reasonably practicable prior to the meeting of the relevant ACRO/UKCA Governance Board which shall consider the purchase of the Exceptional Asset, notify the Parties of:
 - 10.6.1 the proposed Exceptional Asset;
 - 10.6.2 the reason for purchasing the Exceptional Asset; and
 - 10.6.3 the cost of the Exceptional Asset.
- 10.7 Following notification pursuant to **clause 10.6**, any Party shall be entitled to respond to the ACRO Chief Executive prior to the meeting of the ACRO/UKCA Governance Board confirming

that it either approves the purchase of the Exceptional Asset or objects to the purchase of the Exceptional Asset (including giving reasons for any objections.) The purchase of each Exceptional Asset shall be considered by the ACRO/UKCA Governance Board and the Chief Officer of the Host Force taking into account any objections or issues raised by any Party to this Agreement and the reasons for those objections.

- 10.8 The Host Force and the Police and Crime Commissioner for Hampshire shall require ACRO to maintain an asset register throughout the duration of this Agreement setting out the list of Material Assets, the date of purchase of the relevant Material Asset, the location of the Material Asset and any other relevant information in relation to those Material Assets.
- 10.9 The Host Force and the Police and Crime Commissioner for Hampshire shall not be entitled to dispose of any Material Assets prior to consulting the ACRO/UKCA Governance Board. In the event of that the ACRO/UKCA Governance Board disagrees with the proposed disposal, the matter will be resolved in accordance with the dispute resolution procedure as defined in **Schedule 4**.
- 10.10 Any Liabilities that the Host Force incurs due to it carrying out its obligations in this **clause 10** shall be dealt with in accordance with **clause 17**.

11. **CONTRACTS**

All contracts that are required for the provision of the ACRO Activities as at the date of this Agreement have already been entered into in the name of the Host Force. The Parties agree that, as at the date of this Agreement there are no new contracts that need to be entered into nor contracts that need to be transferred or novated to the Host Force as at the date of this Agreement. If any new contracts are required to be entered into, this shall be determined by the Chief Executive of ACRO in consultation with the Chief Officer of the Host Force and the ACRO/UKCA Governance Board. If it is determined that any new contract needs to be entered into, the Police and Crime Commissioner for Hampshire shall enter into the relevant contract in accordance with the Scheme of Governance and in accordance with procurement legislation.

11.2 The Parties agree that:

- any amounts payable under any contracts relating to the provision of the ACRO Activities shall be paid to the Host Force in accordance with **clause 12**; and
- any Liabilities that the Host Force incurs due to it carrying out its obligations in this **clause 11** shall be dealt with in accordance with **clause 17**.

12. FUNDING AND SERVICE PLANNING

- 12.1 The Parties agree that in relation to the funding of ACRO, the basic principle is that the Host Force shall not make any financial gain, or suffer any financial detriment, as a result of the hosting of ACRO.
- 12.2 In consultation with the Chief Officer of Hampshire, the ACRO Chief Executive shall draw up a Strategy for the development and delivery of services for ACRO for a three year period, together with an annual Service Plan for ACRO which shall be presented to the ACRO/UKCA Governance Board for prior consideration and comments. The first such Strategy and Service Plan shall be for the period commencing 1 April 2016 but the Parties acknowledge that, as at the date of this Agreement, the Strategy and Service Plan are still being developed.
- 12.3 Following the recommendation of the Strategy and Service Plan by the ACRO/UKCA Governance Board, the Strategy and Service Plan shall be sent to the Chief Officer of the Host Force for consideration and adoption.
- Where this Agreement refers to an agreed FSS Allocation, this is set out in Table 2 of **Schedule**5 to this Agreement. The Parties agree that, subject to any amendments required to the FSS Allocation pursuant to **clause 2.6.4**, the FSS Allocation is intended to be a fixed share for the duration of this Agreement and may only be amended following consideration and recommendation by the ACRO/UKCA Governance Board in exceptional circumstances.

- The Parties acknowledge that the funding arrangements for ACRO are diverse. As at the date of this Agreement, the Parties agree that the future funding allocation is still being negotiated and will be agreed pursuant to this **clause 12**. It is anticipated that ACRO will be funded through contributions from Chief Officers' in agreement with their corresponding Policing Body, using the FSS Allocation, third party contributions from other ACRO users or top slicing from the police budget and ACRO reserves in addition to income generation. The proposed FSS Allocation to be paid by each of the Policing Bodies is set out in Table 2 of **Schedule 5** to this Agreement.
- In accordance with normal financial planning and fiduciary duties, the Chief Executive of ACRO in consultation with the Chief Officer of the Host Force in relation to ACRO (and at the same time as preparing the Strategy and Service Plan pursuant to **clause 12.2**) shall plan the future financial requirements (including the applicable budget) for the following financial year in relation to ACRO. The Parties shall ensure that such future financial requirements and budget adhere to normal fiscal policy. Following preparation of the relevant financial requirements and the budget, the financial requirements and budget shall be discussed at the ACRO/UKCA Governance Board and following any recommended amendments to the budget by the ACRO/UKCA Governance Board, the ACRO/UKCA Governance Board shall recommend the budget to the Chief Officer of the Host Force for approval. The agreed budget shall be notified to the Policing Bodies and the other bodies who are responsible for providing funding.
- 12.7 The budget to be set by ACRO for each Financial Year pursuant to **clause 12.6** shall include details of all planned income and expenditure (including the cost of delivering the Support Services). It will identify the amount payable by each Policing Body (which is anticipated shall be paid in accordance with the FSS Allocation to the extent that amounts are to be funded by the Policing Bodies) and the anticipated revenue from third party sources.
- 12.8 The funding to be provided by each Policing Body as notified pursuant to **clause 12.6** shall be paid by the relevant Policing Body to the Host Force either annually or quarterly in advance, as notified by the Host Force.
- 12.9 The Host Force shall ensure that the relevant private sector parties or third parties who have agreed to contribute towards the running of ACRO pay their contribution to the Host Force within the timescales agreed. If the Host Force incurs any costs in pursuing such non-payments any costs incurred in doing so shall be met where practicable from existing budget provision, and where this is not practicable shall be treated as a Liability incurred in the running of ACRO to be met by the Parties in accordance with **clause 17**
- 12.10 A failure by any Party to this Agreement to contribute their agreed contribution by the date on which that contribution becomes due and payable will be dealt with in accordance with normal financial debtors processes which will be instigated by the Host Force. The costs of taking any such action shall be met where practicable from existing budget provision, and where this is not practicable shall be treated as a Liability incurred in the running of ACRO to be met by the Parties in accordance with **clause 17**. In such circumstances, the Host Force reserves the right to consider ceasing any specific service provided by ACRO.
- 12.11 If the Host Force is required to carry out any additional work over and above the requirements that are set out in this Agreement due to additional requirements of either a Police Force or a Policing Body then prior to carrying out any additional work, the Host Force and the relevant party requesting the additional work shall agree the additional cost which shall be paid by the relevant Policing Body to the Host Force within the timescale agreed between the Parties.
- 12.12 The Parties agree that in relation to that part of any funding to be paid by the Host Force pursuant to this **clause 12**, an internal invoice will not be generated but that the Host Force shall be required to internally transfer its contribution into the relevant account set up for ACRO on the date on which such amounts become due and payable pursuant to **clause 12.8**.
- As set out in **clause 3.2** of this Agreement, ACRO shall have ringfenced accounts within the overall accounts of the Host Force. The Parties shall procure that the ACRO Chief Executive shall provide the Chief Finance Officer of the Host Force with regular budget updates and the budget for ACRO shall be included in the budget setting process for the Host Force, whilst remaining as ringfenced funds.

- 12.14 If at any time the ACRO Chief Executive considers that the budget for a Financial Year may be exceeded, the ACRO Chief Executive shall notify the Chief Officer of the Host Force and the ACRO/UKCA Governance Board of:
 - 12.14.1 the amount by which it is projected that the budget will be exceeded; and
 - 12.14.2 the reasons why, including the steps that are being taken to minimise any such excess.

The ACRO/UKCA Governance Board shall recommend to the Chief Officer of the Host Force whether the budget should be exceeded or not and where appropriate shall recommend how the excess budget should be funded as between the Parties or from the reserves detailed in clause 17.2.

12.15 The Parties agree to pay to the Host Force any additional amounts in respect of Liabilities which are incurred by the Host Force from time to time and to be shared between the Parties as determined pursuant to **clause 17** or any additional amounts to be paid to the Host Force determined pursuant to **clause 12.14** and which shall be invoiced by the Host Force to the Parties and paid for by the Parties as and when any relevant Liability or the additional cost (as applicable) is incurred.

13. EMPLOYEES AND POLICE OFFICERS

- 13.1 The Chief Executive of ACRO shall ensure that there are sufficient members of staff employed by or seconded to ACRO to enable the unit to fulfil the ACRO Activities. There shall be no reduction in established staffing levels without first consulting the ACRO/UKCA Governance Board. The staff necessary for the delivery of the services provided by ACRO as at the date of this Agreement are the staff employed or seconded as at the date of this Agreement to perform the functions of ACRO. The entering of this Agreement by the Parties does not necessitate the acquisition of additional staff or loss of staff.
- 13.2 All Host Force employees who are required to exclusively perform services in order to allow ACRO to achieve its functions will be under the day to day management of the Chief Executive of ACRO.
- 13.3 Subject to **clause 5.3**, any Host Force employees required to perform services in order to allow ACRO to carry out its requirements as set out under the terms of this Agreement will be subject to all policies and procedures of the Host Force including matters relating to discipline and grievance.
- 13.4 The Parties agree that they must all co-operate to ensure the smooth running of ACRO and minimise any employment law liabilities relating to the employment of the staff required to perform services on behalf of ACRO.
- 13.5 From time to time, it is recognised by the Parties that it will be necessary to second staff from any of the Parties to assist in the carrying out of the responsibilities of ACRO. The Parties agree to second such employees for such purposes as required to undertake and exercise the duties required by ACRO.
- During a secondment period, any employee on secondment will be subject to the day to day management of the Chief Executive of ACRO and will perform all duties assigned to the employee by the Head of ACRO.
- 13.7 Throughout any secondment period, the employee on secondment will continue to be employed by the same employer and will not become an employee of the Host Force and will remain under the Direction and Control of the Chief Officer who employs such person. The employee on secondment will be subject to the secondment terms and conditions which are agreed between the Host Force and the relevant Police Force.
- 13.8 Employment Liabilities arising from the discharge of ACRO Activities shall be met where practicable from existing budget provision, and where this is not practicable shall be treated as

a Liability incurred in the running of ACRO to be met by the Parties in accordance with **clause 17**. Management of this process will be conducted by the Chief Executive of ACRO.

14. **TUPE**

There shall be no TUPE transfer for the purposes of this Agreement as all staff will remain employed by the Host Force on their terms and conditions.

15. **LAND**

ACRO shall carry out its activities from the premises set out in **Schedule 3** and the Chief Executive of ACRO shall procure that any necessary licences are in place to occupy such premises. If any alternative accommodation is required this shall be subject to the agreement of the Chief Officer of the Host Force and the Police and Crime Commissioner for Hampshire, taking into account the views of the ACRO/UKCA Governance Board. Any costs associated with securing alternative accommodation and any liabilities that the Host Force incurs due to it carrying out its obligations in this **clause 15**, shall be dealt with in accordance with **clause 17**.

16. **DISPUTE RESOLUTION**

Any dispute in relation to this Agreement that cannot be resolved through normal management processes should, where appropriate, be referred to the ACRO/UKCA Governance Board. If the ACRO/UKCA Governance Board is unable to resolve the dispute, the matter shall be resolved through the application of the provisions contained within **Schedule 4**.

17. LIABILITIES IN RELATION TO THE RUNNING OF ACRO

- 17.1 The Parties agree that although Hampshire Constabulary is hosting the arrangements for ACRO, any Liabilities incurred by the Host Force in relation to the activities of ACRO (which shall include any Liabilities that the Host Force incurs arising out of the hosting and provision of the Support Services and the employment or secondment of staff to ACRO) should be shared between the Parties. It is agreed that if a Liability arises in relation to ACRO, the Liabilities shall be met in the following order of priority:
 - 17.1.1 firstly, if the relevant Liability is covered by the insurance arrangements referred to in **clause 20**, the Liability shall or to the extent possible shall be recovered by any insurance monies recovered;
 - 17.1.2 secondly, and if approved by the ACRO/UKCA Governance Board, the relevant Liability shall be met from the existing budget provision;
 - thirdly, and provided that this is approved by the ACRO/UKCA Governance Board, the Liability shall be met from the reserve referred to in **clause 17.2**; and
 - 17.1.4 notwithstanding **clause 4.12** to the extent that the Liability cannot be met in accordance with **clauses 17.1.1, 17.1.2** or **17.1.3** the Liability shall be shared between the Parties in proportion to the FSS Allocation.
- The Parties acknowledge that, in order to cover the cost of any Liabilities that arise as a result of this Agreement or in relation to ACRO, which cannot be met pursuant to **clause 17.1.1** or **17.1.2**, an initial reserve of £4,000,000.00 (four million pounds) has been established within the accounts of the Host Force which may be accessed by the Host Force (following agreement by the ACRO/UKCA Governance Board). The Parties agree that the level of the initial reserve may be amended following the approval of the ACRO/UKCA Governance Board and the Police and Crime Commissioner for Hampshire Police.
- 17.3 The Host Force shall ensure that money is only withdrawn from the reserve in accordance with a protocol for accessing the reserve to be agreed with the Police and Crime Commissioner for Hampshire Police following the recommendation by the ACRO/UKCA Governance Board. If:
 - 17.3.1 the ACRO/UKCA Governance Board determines that the reserve is not suitable to cover the relevant Liability or there are not sufficient monies standing to the credit

- of the reserve, then the Policing Bodies shall be responsible for such Liability in accordance with **clause 17.1.4**;
- the reserve falls below the Agreed Level of Reserve then the ACRO/UKCA Governance Board shall be entitled to request that the Policing Bodies contribute monies in order to increase the level of the reserves to an amount approved by the ACRO/UKCA Governance Board in which case the Policing Bodies shall pay into the reserve an amount agreed by the ACRO/UKCA Governance Board in proportion to the FSS Allocation for the relevant Policing Body.
- Any Liabilities which arise in relation to the previous activities carried out by ACRO prior to the date of this Agreement, shall be met by the Parties in accordance with **clauses 17.1** and **17.2**.
- 17.5 Hampshire Constabulary and the Police and Crime Commissioner for Hampshire shall ensure that the needs and interests of ACRO are taken into consideration when making decisions about allocation or availability of resources which are used by ACRO and shall consult with the ACRO/UKCA Governance Board before making changes which will affect the resources or business interests of ACRO.
- 17.6 The Host Force shall enter into discussions with the Home Office with a view to securing an indemnity for any Liability incurred as a result of ACRO undertaking the UKCA-ECR activities. Where, and to the extent that, such indemnity is not provided, the Liability incurred shall be met by the Parties in accordance with **clauses 17.1** and **17.2**.
- 17.7 Provided that the Host Force has acted in good faith, the Police and Crime Commissioner for the Host Force and the Chief Officer of the Host Force shall have no further Liabilities to the Parties other than the Host Force's FSS Allocation. For the avoidance of doubt, this shall include where a Liability has arisen out of the Host Force acting negligently, in breach of any contract that has been entered into for the purposes of ACRO (including this Agreement), in breach of Legislation or in breach of a statutory duty.
- 17.8 The Host Force shall be solely responsible for a Liability where the Liability has arisen as a result of the Host Force not acting in good faith.
- 17.9 Where a Liability arises in respect of which the Host Force has a direct contractual claim or any other claim against a third party (eg: in relation to the maintenance of facilities), the Host Force shall use reasonable endeavours to pursue such claim against a third party. The costs of taking any such action shall be met where practicable from existing budget provision, and where this is not practicable shall be treated as a Liability incurred in the running of ACRO to be met by the Parties in accordance with **clause 17**.
- 17.10 Any claims made in connection with ACRO or in relation to the activities of ACRO that arise either prior to or after the date of this Agreement shall be handled by the Host Force.
- 17.11 The Parties to this Agreement are obliged to notify the Host Force if they receive any claims under the Agreement including any claims made in connection with any current or past activities of ACRO.
- 17.12 The Parties to this Agreement are obliged to provide the Host Force with such information, support, co-operation and assistance as the Host Force may require in connection with claims under the Agreement or in connection with the activities previously carried out by ACRO.
- 17.13 **Clause 21.3** shall apply in relation to any Liabilities arising following the date on which this Agreement is terminated.

18. **INDEMNITY**

18.1 Subject to **clauses 17.7**, **18.2** and **19.1**, where a Party is in breach of the provisions of this Agreement or has been negligent or has carried out an act or omission which has caused a Liability to occur (the "Defaulting Party") that Defaulting Party shall indemnify the other Parties against all losses, claims, damages, expenses, costs and charges, demands or proceedings

incurred by the other Parties as a result of the Defaulting Parties negligence, acts or omissions or breach of its obligations under this Agreement.

A Defaulting Party shall not be liable under **clause 18.1** where its negligence, acts or omissions or breach of its obligations under this Agreement were carried out with the approval, or under the instruction, of the ACRO Chief Executive, the Chief Officer of the Host Force or the ACRO/ UKCA Governance Board in which case the provisions of **clause 19** shall apply.

19. INDEMNITY IN RELATION TO THE HOSTING ARRANGEMENT

- 19.1 In respect of all ACRO Activities and save where it is agreed that the relevant Liability should be paid for out of the reserves referred to in **clause 17.2**, the Policing Bodies will indemnify the Host Force in respect of all Liabilities arising in connection with the hosting of and any actions undertaken by ACRO (including where such Liabilities have arisen out of the breach, negligent act or omission or any other act or omission on the part of the Host Force but not where the Host Force has failed to comply with its own policies and procedures, or any derogation therefrom approved in accordance with **clause 5.3**, in which case the Host Force shall be solely liable for such liability).
- 19.2 To the extent that the Policing Bodies are liable pursuant to **clause 19.1**, this Liability shall be shared between the Policing Bodies in proportion to the FSS Allocation.
- 19.3 Nothing in this **clause 19** shall limit the Parties' duty to mitigate their loss.

20. **INSURANCE**

- 20.1 From the date of this Agreement until the date on which this Agreement is terminated:
 - 20.1.1 the Host Force shall take out and maintain insurance to the levels specified in **Schedule 6** to cover the ACRO Activities, the staff employed by the Host Force to carry out the ACRO Activities, any secondees or attachments to ACRO, the buildings and facilities occupied by the Host Force for the purposes of carrying out its obligations under this Agreement (the cost of which shall be included in the budget for ACRO to be funded pursuant to **clause 12**); and
 - 20.1.2 the remaining Parties to this Agreement shall take out and maintain insurance (in accordance with its usual insurance requirements) to meet any claims that might arise in relation to that Parties liability pursuant to the terms of this Agreement.
- 20.2 None of the Parties shall take any action or fail to take any action, or (insofar as is reasonably within its power) permit anything to occur in relation to it, which would entitle any insurer to refuse to pay any claim or seek to avoid any insurance in respect of the ACRO Activities or Assets and Resources that are made available for the purposes of this Agreement, save where such a claim falls below the Host Forces policy excess.
- The Host Force shall be responsible for notifying its insurers of the terms of this Agreement and where they are required to do so by their insurers.
- The Host Force shall be responsible for handling, investigating or resolving any insurance claim arising out of an event which occurred either prior to or after the date of this Agreement in relation to the subject matter of this Agreement. The costs of the Host Force's handling of such claims (including investigations and resolution) shall be treated as a liability incurred in relation to the running of ACRO to be met by the Parties under **clause 17**.
- The Host Force shall maintain a claims register in connection with the activities of ACRO. The Host Force shall provide, if required, the other Policing Bodies with evidence that the insurance is in full force and effect.

21. TERMINATION OF THE AGREEMENT

21.1 Subject to **clause 7.4**, the Agreement shall be terminated by the Parties if so agreed by the National Police Chiefs' Council or the Association of Police and Crime Commissioners.

- 21.2 On termination of this Agreement, each Policing Body, in consultation with their Chief Officer, shall prepare final accounts of all expenditure incurred under the terms of this Agreement. The Host Force shall procure that any third party who provides funding to ACRO shall also prepare final accounts of all expenditure incurred in relation to ACRO.
- On termination of this Agreement, each Policing Body shall continue to pay to the Host Force, on request from the Host Force that Policing Body's FSS Allocation of the cost of covering all ongoing Liabilities (including redundancy costs) incurred by the Host Force as a result of termination of this Agreement in the manner set out in **clause 17**, **18** and **19** and this clause shall survive the termination of this Agreement. The provisions of **clauses 17**, **18** and **19** shall continue to apply in relation to any Liabilities that occur following the date of termination of this Agreement in relation to the activities of ACRO occurring in the Term of this Agreement.
- Where notice of termination has been given, the Parties to this Agreement shall ensure that the ACRO/UKCA Governance Board, in consultation with the Host Force, develop an Exit Strategy. The Exit Strategy shall include, for example, a strategy regarding the position in relation to staff, assets and contracts following the date on which this Agreement terminates.

22. **NOVATION AND ASSIGNMENT**

- The Parties shall not be entitled to assign the benefit of this Agreement or any part of it (together with the burden) to any other body unless the assignment takes effect by operation of law.
- This Agreement will be binding on and will enure to the benefit of the parties and their respective successors (including any successors to the Policing Bodies) and any successors shall be responsible for the decisions of the previous bodies as though such decisions had been made by a successor body.
- Nothing in this Agreement prevents the Host Force from collaborating with an outsourced provider or third parties with regard to the provision of support services.

23. **CONFIDENTIALITY**

- 23.1 Subject to **clause 23.2**, the Parties to this Agreement shall share information between themselves and act in the interests of transparency in order to allow ACRO to perform its functions and operate effectively.
- 23.2 The ACRO/UKCA Governance Board shall seek to identify whether there are any matters which are commercially sensitive or may not be disclosed for legal reasons. If any matters are agreed to be commercially sensitive, the Parties to this Agreement shall keep such matters confidential and shall use all reasonable endeavours to prevent their officers and agents from making any disclosure of confidential or sensitive information which may not be disclosed for legal reasons.

23.3 **Clause 23.2** shall not apply to:

- any disclosure of information that is reasonably required by any persons engaged in the performance of their obligations under this Agreement;
- any disclosure required by operation of law, including the DPA, the FOIA/EIR and Section 23E of the Police Act 1996;
- any matter which a Party can demonstrate is already generally available and in the public domain otherwise than as a result of a breach of this clause;
- 23.3.4 any disclosure to enable a determination to be made under **clause 16** (Dispute Resolution);
- 23.3.5 any disclosure required by law, any Parliamentary obligation or the rules of the Stock Exchange or Governmental or Regulatory Police Body having the force of law;
- any disclosure of information which is already lawfully in the possession of the receiving Party prior to its disclosure by the disclosing Party;

- 23.3.7 any disclosure by a Party to a department, office or agency of the Government; and
- 23.3.8 any disclosure for the purposes of the examination and certification of any Party's accounts.

24. DATA PROTECTION ACT, FREEDOM OF INFORMATION ACT AND ENVIRONMENTAL INFORMATION REGULATIONS

- 24.1 All Parties shall comply with the provisions of the DPA, the FOIA and the EIR.
- The NPCC will be the specified body recognised for the purposes of the DPA, the FOIA, the EIR to be responsible for requests made to it under the DPA, the FOI or the EIR, including relating to this agreement.
- 24.3 All requests under the DPA, the FOIA or the EIR in relation to this Agreement which are submitted to the NPCC or ACRO directly will be handled and dealt with centrally by the NPFDU (National Policing Freedom of Information & Data Protection Central Referral Unit) on behalf of the NPCC Data controller.
- To the extent any other Party receives a request under the DPA, the FOI or the EIR relating to this Agreement, they agree that where they hold any relevant personal data or information, they will respond accordingly to the applicant having sought advice from the NPFDU.
- 24.5 To the extent any other Party receives a request under the DPA, the FOI or the EIR relating to this Agreement, they agree that where they do not hold any relevant personal data or information they will direct the applicant to the NPFDU having sought advice from the NPFDU on the appropriate response.
- 24.6 Any Party which receives a request under the DPA, the FOIA or the EIR where data is held in relation to the NPCC or ACRO shall contact the NPFDU for advice on the appropriate response.
- 24.7 In respect of rights and obligations under the Agreement, each Party to this Agreement is the data controller in respect of their own personal data and the Host Force is the data processor in respect of all such personal data processed on behalf of any other Party.
- 24.8 Where personal data is held on national or local databases:
 - 24.8.1 which are operated, used or controlled solely by ACRO on behalf of the NPCC the NPCC acting by its Chair shall be the relevant data controller;
 - 24.8.2 and processed on behalf of the other Chief Constables, they shall be the relevant data controllers in common; and
 - 24.8.3 each data controller shall be registered as a data controller and shall ensure they comply with their obligations under the DPA, the FOIA and the EIR and all other applicable laws.

25. **RECORDS**

- 25.1 Each Party shall keep adequate and comprehensive records and accounts to:
 - 25.1.1 enable it to perform its obligations under this Agreement;
 - 25.1.2 allow the Host Force to perform its obligations under this Agreement;
 - 25.1.3 to meet its statutory obligations and to comply with any requests from third parties;
 - 25.1.4 to comply with the requirements of Authorised Professional Practice Information Management as agreed by Police Forces nationally.

25.2 Such records shall be freely available to the other Parties to this Agreement, the Chief Executive of ACRO, the Chief Constables' Council and the ACRO/UKCA Governance Board. On the termination or expiry of this Agreement, the Party retaining any record shall provide for a reasonable period of free access (in accordance with the Authorised Professional Practice Management of Police Information) to the other Parties to such records in so far as they relate to the period of this Agreement.

26. **PUBLICITY**

- 26.1 In relation to publicity, announcements and advertising, the Parties shall comply with the Communications Protocol which is set out in **Schedule 7**.
- The Parties agree that the Host Force shall be responsible for all communications on matters relating to ACRO's day-to-day operations. This includes developing and delivering the relevant communications strategies and responding to media enquiries.
- 26.3 If an issue arises in relation to the governance of ACRO or the ACRO/UKCA Governance Board, the Host Force shall seek the advice and guidance of the NPCC Press Office who shall take the lead role in relation to any such communications.
- The Host Force shall ensure that it shall notify the NPCC Press Office in relation to any external communications in relation to ACRO that reference, but are not integral to, the NPCC or any of its national police themes, prior to the communications being delivered.

27. INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY

- 27.1 The ACRO/UKCA Governance Board shall consider which Party to this Agreement shall retain Intellectual Property Rights in relation to Material created for the purposes of this Agreement but the assumption as at the date of this Agreement is that the National Police Chiefs' Council shall have responsibility for protecting the Intellectual Property in relation to any Material created for the purposes of this Agreement and the Parties agree that, unless the ACRO/UKCA Governance Board recommends otherwise, the Intellectual Property Rights in the Materials shall vest in the Chief Constable of Hampshire on behalf of the Chief Constables' Council.
- 27.2 If the Host Force withdraws from its position as the Host Force, the Parties shall seek to agree the appropriate Party to retain the Intellectual Property Rights with the intention that any Intellectual Property Rights shall transfer to the new Host Force, to be held on behalf of Chief Constables' Council.
- 27.3 The Chief Officer of the Host Force (or any other Party owning Intellectual Property Rights pursuant to **clause 27.1** or **27.2**) shall, where required and for the purposes of the ACRO Activities, grant all Parties a royalty free, perpetual non-exclusive, non-transferable licence to use the Intellectual Property Rights.

28. **AUDIT AND INSPECTION**

ACRO shall be subject to normal statutory audits or inspections in accordance with local and national arrangements and the Parties shall procure that ACRO shall make any documents available to public scrutiny where appropriate. The Parties shall, as required, provide such information and assistance in relation to such audits or inspections.

29. **COMPLAINT**

- 29.1 All complaints will be dealt with in accordance with local and national police policies and supervised where necessary by the independent structures within the Host Force or externally by the Independent Police Complaints Commission (IPCC) as determined by the Head of Professional Standards of the Host Force.
- Where civil litigation is commenced against ACRO, this will be dealt with by the force solicitor of the Host Force or by any other relevant legal body at a national level if deemed appropriate or if the civil litigation relates to an employment claim, this shall be the responsibility of the Chief Officer, Policing Body or national legal body that employs the relevant individual.

30. **NOTICES**

- 30.1 Any demand notice or other communication given in connection with or required by this Agreement shall be in writing (entirely in the English language) and shall be emailed to the recipient at its e-mail address marked for the attention of the Lead Chief Officer.
- 30.2 Any such demand, notice or communication shall:
 - 30.2.1 if given by e-mail it will be deemed to have been duly served, subject to **clause**30.2.2 below, at the time of sending the e-mail, which if outside 9am and 4pm on a Business Day will be deemed to be 9am on the following Business Day, provided that any notice served by e-mail will be confirmed by letter sent by post or delivered by hand as soon as practicable thereafter but without prejudice to the effectiveness of the original notice given by e-mail if received or deemed to have been received in accordance with this **clause 30.2.1**;
 - if an automatic electronic notification is received by the sender within 24 hours after sending the e-mail informing the sender that the e-mail has not been received by the recipient or that the recipient is out of the office, that e-mail shall be deemed not to have been served.

31. WAIVER

- 31.1 The failure or delay by any Police Body in exercising any right, power or remedy under this Agreement shall not in any circumstances imply such right, power or remedy nor operate as a waiver of it. The single or partial exercise by any Party to this Agreement of any right, power or remedy under this Agreement shall not in any circumstance preclude any other of further exercise of it or the exercise of any other right, power or remedy.
- The rights, powers and damages provided in this Agreement are cumulative and not exclusive of any rights, powers and remedies provided by law.
- 31.3 Any waiver of a breach of, or default under, any of the terms of this Agreement shall not be deemed a waiver of any subsequent breach or default and shall in no way affect the other terms of this Agreement.

32. CONTRACTS (RIGHTS OF THIRD PARTIES) ACT 1999

No term of this Agreement may be enforced by any person who is not entitled to it.

33. **INVALIDITY/SEVERABILITY**

- 33.1 If any provision of this Agreement is or becomes illegal or invalid it shall not affect the legality and validity of the other provisions. The Parties shall in good faith amend and if necessary novate this Agreement to reflect as nearly as possible the spirit and intention behind the illegal or invalid provision to the extent that such spirit and intention is consistent with the laws of the jurisdiction and so that the amended clause complies with such laws.
- 33.2 If the Parties cannot agree upon the terms of any amendment or novation within six (6) months of the date upon which a clause is determined to be illegal or invalid then the Parties agree to submit the terms of the amendment or novation to an expert for determination. The Parties agree that the expert's decision in this respect shall be final and binding.

34. ENTIRE AGREEMENT

- This Agreement and all documents referred to herein set forth the entire Agreement between the Parties in respect of the subject matter covered by them and supersede and replace all prior communications, representations (other than fraudulent representations), warranties, stipulations, undertakings and agreements whether oral or written between the Parties.
- 34.2 Each of the Parties acknowledges that it does not enter into this Agreement in reliance on any warranty, representation or undertaking other than those contained in this Agreement and that

its only remedies are for breach of contract provided that this does not exclude any liability which any Party would otherwise have to another Party in respect of any statements made fraudulently prior to the date of this Agreement or to any provision of this Agreement which is induced by fraud for which the remedies available shall be all those available under the law given in this Agreement.

35. **EQUALITY AND DIVERSITY**

- 35.1 The Parties shall and shall procure that their employees agents and sub- contractors shall comply with any applicable anti-discrimination legislation including the Equality Act 2010 the Equality Act 2010 Code of Practice on Employment and the Equality Act 2010 Code of Practice on Equal Pay.
- 35.2 The Parties have had regard to the public sector equality duty in deciding to enter into this Agreement and shall have regard to the public sector equality duty in complying with their obligations under this Agreement.

36. FURTHER ASSURANCE

The Parties shall execute all such further deeds and documents and carry out all such further acts as may be necessary to carry the provisions of this Agreement into full force and effect.

37. GOVERNING LAW AND JURISDICTION

This Agreement and any non-contractual obligations arising out of or in connection with it shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of England and Wales and without prejudice to **Schedule 4** (Dispute Resolution) each party agrees to submit to the exclusive jurisdiction of the courts of England and Wales.

38. **CONTINUANCE IN FORCE**

- 38.1 Unless expressly stated to the contrary each obligation of a Party under this Agreement shall be deemed to be a continuing obligation throughout the Term.
- The expiry or termination (howsoever arising) of this Agreement shall be without prejudice to the rights and duties of each party accrued prior to such expiry or termination.
- The clauses and provisions of this Agreement which expressly or impliedly have effect following expiry or termination (howsoever arising) of this Agreement shall continue in full force and effect notwithstanding such expiry or termination.

39. **COUNTERPARTS**

This Agreement may be executed in any number of counterparts, each of which so executed shall be an original, but together shall constitute one and the same instrument.

SCHEDULE 1

Detailed Activities

This schedule sets out the activities of ACRO and any other specific business areas which will be governed by this Agreement.

1. ACRO ACTIVITIES

The Host Force shall procure that ACRO will continue to provide operational support and advisory services to various Head(s) of National Units, Chief Police Officers, Government Ministries, Non-Departmental Public Bodies and Executive Agencies and to various other Stakeholders including the Biometrics Commissioner and Information Commissioner on matters relating to the management of criminal records information held on the Police National Computer (PNC) and associated police databases and the international exchange of criminal conviction information.

The services and functions to be carried out by ACRO shall be as follows:

- 1.1 Police Certificates these are provided to UK nationals and foreign nationals who have spent time living in the UK, to assist applications being made to secure Visa documents from primarily the American, Canadian, South African, Australian and New Zealand Embassies and High Commissions. A charge is applied to the applicant for this service, according to whether the applicant is seeking a standard or premium service;
- The International Child Protection Certificate (ICPC) these are provided on behalf of the National Crime Agency (NCA) and Child Exploitation Online Protection Command (CEOP). The Certificates enable an individual to evidence to a foreign employer that their criminal history does not prevent them from working or volunteering with children. A charge is applied to the applicant for this service;
- 1.3 The provision of a Police National Computer (PNC) enquiry, update and disclosure service provided to non-police agencies and non-police prosecuting agencies;
- 1.4 The provision of a national Subject Access Service on behalf of Police Forces in England and Wales, Northern Ireland, Jersey, the Isle of Man and the British Transport Police, to issue disclosures to applicants with information held on the PNC;
- 1.5 To Back Record Convert (BRC) records held in the national Microfiche repository onto the PNC, so as to ensure PNC records are accurate and meet the requirements of the DPA;
- The provision of an intelligence unit which creates and shares intelligence products with the Police service and other law enforcement agencies operating in all jurisdictions of the UK. The unit receives information from all ACRO business areas, which is turned into intelligence products. Where appropriate products are also shared with other criminal justice partners, both domestic and foreign e.g. Interpol and Europol;
- 1.7 The deployment of staff to work within Interpol, Europol, CEOP and the Home Office in order to assist in the movement of information that will benefit the business of ACRO and the law enforcement community and thereby enhance public protection;
- 1.8 The development of links with priority countries as determined by the Home Office in order to enhance the flow of conviction and biometric data relevant to UK nationals; and
- The putting in place of information sharing agreements aimed at enhancing knowledge of UK nationals who have committed criminal offences overseas or foreign nationals who have committed offences in the UK. Such agreements already exist with Jamaica, Albania, Ghana, British Caribbean Overseas Territories, Trinidad and Tobago and a number of other countries. This list will continue to be expanded by ACRO over the Term.

2. **KEY DELIVERABLES**

The key deliverables for ACRO shall be as follows:

- 2.1 Management of the UKCA-ECR activities as listed at **paragraph 3**;
- 2.2 The issue of Police Certificates;
- 2.3 Subject Access on behalf of all Police Forces in England and Wales;
- 2.4 Back record conversion of the Microfiche;
- 2.5 The production of International Child Protection Certificates;
- 2.6 The development of police intelligence in furtherance of all checks that are managed by ACRO;
- 2.7 Liaising with other police and non police organisations in furtherance of checking and disclosing criminal history data;
- 2.8 To conduct operations where appointed by Chief Constables' Council or the Home Office into a major information management issue, and
- 2.9 Management of the Exceptional Case Procedure and Early Deletion Process; dissemination of intelligence products; manage ViSOR Nominals; management of EU funded projects: conduct research; and run national operations.
- 3. Where necessary the activities to be carried out by ACRO will require inputting or extracting information held on the Police National Computer (PNC), the Scottish Criminal History System (CHS) and Causeway System (CRV) in Northern Ireland. It will also involve any research work to strengthen information about identity and includes any subsequent alteration or deletion of stored material or records held on national police systems which may be necessary and coordination with local police forces and other public agencies concerning public protection measures. ACRO will liaise with relevant colleagues in England and Wales, Scotland and Northern Ireland to ensure that tasks and responsibilities are properly and effectively distributed between the various jurisdictions where appropriate.

4. UKCA-ECR AND NON EU ACTIVITIES

The activities to be provided by ACRO in relation to the UKCA-ECR and Non EU Activities shall be:

- discharging the United Kingdom's responsibilities under EU Council Decisions 2009/315/JHA on the exchange of information extracted from the criminal record and 2009/316/JHA European Criminal Record Information System (ECRIS) plus EU Framework Decision 93;
- 4.2 non-EU criminal records exchange;
- 4.3 criminal record exchange and case management in relation to those extradited from the UK;
- 4.4 criminal record exchange and case management of UK nationals who have been arrested or detained overseas and have sought consular assistance, as notified to ACRO by the Foreign and Commonwealth Office (FCO); and
- 4.5 any other exchange as may be authorised in writing by the Home Office and agreed by the ACRO/UKCA Governance Board.

5. **ANCILLARY ACTIVITIES**

ACRO agrees to carry out the following ancillary activities in relation to the UKCA-ECR:

Where information is received about the convictions of UK nationals in other EU Member States, to co-ordinate the application of appropriate measures and checks to ensure public protection issues are addressed;

- To operate and maintain whatever databases and systems are required to carry out the above functions efficiently and effectively;
- 5.3 To provide professional advice to police forces in all UK jurisdictions, the Home Office, the Scottish Government and the Department of Justice Northern Ireland on overseas conviction issues;
- 5.4 To contribute to negotiations at EU level and bilaterally on overseas conviction/ criminal record issues;
- To participate as necessary in discussions and work at EU level to implement work around the piloting of the electronic exchange of criminal record information; and
- To help raise awareness with relevant organisations within the UK of the role of ACRO in dealing with requests for criminal records information.

SCHEDULE 2

Accountability and Governance

ACRO

ACRO/UKCA GOVERNANCE BOARD TERMS OF REFERENCE

- 1. Overall Objective of ACRO
- 1.1 Deliver the UK obligations under the UKCA-ECR.
- 1.2 Provide support to UK Police Forces by organising the management of criminal record information and improve the links between criminal records and biometric information.
- 2. **Board Composition**
- Members:
- 4. Chair: this key role requires a Chief Officer of Police to hold this position who requires good central government department experience/exposure.
- 5. Deputy Chair: to be drawn from the other members of the Board.
- 6. Operational Members: Representative of the UK Police Force community (including the ACRO Chief Executive), covering England and Wales, Scotland and Northern Ireland; International Affairs representative; Chief Constable of Hampshire representative; Police and Crime Commissioner for Hampshire representative; Intelligence community representative; National Crime Agency representative; Home Office representative; Northern Ireland Executive or Police Service Northern Ireland representative; Scotlish Government or Police Scotland representative; Immigration Enforcement representative; and Disclosure and Barring Service representative.
- 7. Other members: as required, and subject to the approval of the Chair, the addition of persons with particular skills and experience, e.g. those with experience in finance, IT, strategy, business planning expertise or any other expertise considered relevant for delivery of the objectives of ACRO.
- 8. In Attendance:
- 9. ACRO Chief Executive: every meeting.
- 10. Other ACRO senior leads: attend on an as needed basis, but there would be expected to be some routine reporting on ICT, HR and finance matters.
- 11. **The Secretary:** being the person designated by the ACRO Chief Executive.
- 12. **Quorum:** the quorum for the Board meeting shall be at least six people, and shall include the Chair or Deputy Chair and ACRO Chief Executive.
- 13. **Frequency:** The Board shall meet on at least a quarterly basis or as and when required by the Chair or at the request of at least 6 members giving 5 working days' notice.
- 14. Board Terms of Reference
- 14.1 General

As a minimum, members of the Board agree to make an active contribution to ensure their roles are delivered effectively; this includes making time for:

- 14.1.1 Attendance at formal Board meetings;
- 14.1.2 Reading Board papers;
- 14.1.3 Contributing to the ongoing development of the ACRO strategy and commenting on its operational delivery;
- 14.1.4 Considering the business plans and budgets for the ACRO and giving advice thereon;
- 14.1.5 Where appropriate, depending on experience and expertise, be prepared to be an active member of sub-committees of the main Board; and
- 14.1.6 To appoint Committees or working or advisory groups to support and assist the Board in the delivery of its terms of reference or objectives.

14.2 Advisory

The ACRO/UKCA Governance Board will:

- 14.2.1 Recommend the strategy and direction for ACRO to address the priorities and expectations of the UK Police Service, and relevant government departments and agencies, including the Home Office, Scottish Government and the NI Executive, including the obligations under the European Treaty on the Exchange of Criminal Records;
- 14.2.2 Recommend corporate governance arrangements, including developing a risk management strategy and definition of ACRO's risk appetite, and implementing appropriate risk management arrangements;
- 14.2.3 Recommend, and over time refine, the operational priorities to deliver ACRO's strategic objectives; and
- 14.2.4 Communicate the work of the agency to the public, ACRO's stakeholders and the media.

14.3 **Supervisory**

The ACRO/UKCA Governance Board will:

- 14.3.1 Provide advice on the appointment of the ACRO Chief Executive;
- 14.3.2 Appraise and monitor the performance of the ACRO Chief Executive;
- 14.3.3 Receive regular reports from the Chief Executive and other ACRO functional leads;
- 14.3.4 Monitor the performance of ACRO to ensure that the documented Strategy and Service Plan are being delivered in accordance with the requirements and priorities of the UK police service and other stakeholders. In particular, the Board will monitor delivery of the Home Office's obligations for the UKCA-ECR;
- 14.3.5 Recommend remedial actions where ACRO's performance is not satisfactorily delivering the agreed strategy and operational priorities;
- 14.3.6 Monitor the risk management arrangements in place to make sure they are effective, there is regular re-appraisal of risks, and that there are effective internal controls to satisfactorily mitigate/manage risk;
- 14.3.7 Help ensure value for money is being pursued and there is a strategy for successfully delivering the ACRO strategic imperatives within funding constraints;

- 14.3.8 Oversee the sound financial management of ACRO, the distribution of responsibilities and scrutinise the allocation of resources within the agency in line with its functions and priorities;
- 14.3.9 Help ensure there are good practice operational policies and procedures in place for ACRO's key functions;
- 14.3.10 Assure the relationship with the Home Office in relation to operational delivery, reporting, budgeting and funding matters;
- 14.3.11 Assure ACRO's Strategy, Service Plan and Annual Budget, following recommendation from the Audit and Risk Committee (if in place);
- 14.3.12 Oversee ACRO's financial statements and Annual Report following a recommendation from the Audit and Risk Committee (if in place);
- 14.3.13 Promote the overall culture and values of ACRO, and the behaviours and standards required of its staff;
- 14.3.14 Help ensure that ACRO has the capability to deliver and to plan to meet current and future needs;
- 14.3.15 Receive reports from Board committees and determine issues raised; and
- 14.3.16 Receive recommendations from Board committees and the Chief Executive about proposals for appointment of professional advisors and other suppliers where appropriate, and advise the Chief Officer for the Host Force thereon.
- 14.4 The Chair will also advise and support the Chief Executive and other executives as appropriate in the discharge of their responsibilities.

15. Communications

- 15.1 Brief biographies of all Board members and the Chief Executive will be published on the ACRO website;
- 15.2 Each Board member will be required to at least annually disclose and keep updated a register of interests (non-ACRO roles held, both paid and unpaid, and hospitality offered and received) on the website to provide assurance about transparency;
- 15.3 The Board shall ensure that ACRO's Business Plan will be published on the website, as will the Annual Report and financial statements, when they are available;
- 15.4 The Board shall ensure that the agenda and minutes of the ACRO/UKCA Governance Board will be published on the ACRO intranet, following their approval by members;
- 15.5 The Board shall ensure that a copy of Board papers will be published on the ACRO intranet following the meeting unless otherwise specified by the Board. A public summary version of the Board minutes will also be published on the website, once approved by members; and
- 15.6 The Chair in consultation with the Chief Executive, or where appropriate the full Board, will determine whether an agenda item should be considered as either 'open' or 'closed'. Observers may be asked to leave the meeting for closed items. Closed items will be redacted in the version of the minutes that are published.

16. Term of Office

- Non-executive members are appointed following a formal selection process, including interview;
- 16.2 Non-Executive members will be appointed for a period of three years and can be appointed for two terms only. This can be extended where strategic or operational factors demand it, and are subject to the approval of the full Board;

- 16.3 All Member appointments are nominated by the agency being represented and approved by the Board;
- 16.4 The number of members can be varied at any time if approved by the Board; and
- Unless otherwise agreed, it is anticipated that the chair of the ACRO/UKCA Governance Board shall be the chair of the NPCC (who shall be appointed pursuant to the terms of the NPCC collaboration agreement).

17. Audit and Risk Committee (ARC):

- 17.1 It may be necessary to set up, as a formal committee of the main Board, an Audit and Risk Committee. The functions of any such committee shall be:
 - 17.1.1 To support the ACRO/UKCA Governance Board and Accounting Officer by reviewing the comprehensiveness and reliability of assurance on governance, risk management, the control environment, and the integrity of financial statements and the annual report; and
 - 17.1.2 To report quarterly to the ACRO/UKCA Governance Board in line with Treasury Guidance (HM Treasury: Audit Risk and Assurance Committee Handbook (April 2013)).
- 17.2 Membership of the ARC shall be drawn from the main Board membership, with co-opted members included as necessary.

Licences in respect of premises and Information Technology

ACRO

- 1. Accommodation at Fusion One, Parkway, Whiteley, PO15 7AA which is leased on a five year term, on ACRO's behalf, by the Police and Crime Commissioner for Hampshire.
- 2. Thames Valley Police provides all IT services. The policy in relation to support services, new systems, network management and accreditation is through this force.

Dispute Resolution

- 1. Any dispute arising in relation to any aspect of this Agreement shall be resolved in accordance with this **Schedule 4**. The Parties undertake and agree to pursue a positive approach towards dispute resolution which seeks to identify a solution which avoids legal proceedings and maintains a strong working relationship between the Parties.
- 1.1 In the event of any dispute or difference between the Parties relating to this Agreement (whether this may be a matter of contractual interpretation or otherwise) the matter shall be dealt with as follows:
 - in the first instance, any issues shall be raised and discussed with the ACRO Chief Executive or where this is not possible with the Chief Officer who retains Direction and Control of ACRO;
 - 1.1.2 if the issue has not been resolved by the ACRO Chief Executive or the Chief Officer of Hampshire, the Parties to this Agreement shall seek to resolve the matter between themselves or through the appropriate governance arrangements in **Schedule 4**;
 - if the matter cannot be resolved by agreement between the Parties or though the appropriate governance arrangements described in **Schedule 4**, the Parties shall attempt to settle the dispute by mediation in accordance with the Centre for Dispute Resolution Model Mediation Procedure ("Model Procedure") and the ACRO/UKCA Governance Board and Chief Officer of Hampshire shall agree upon the appropriate mediator to be appointed (in the event of failure to agree, an independent mediator to be appointed by the Police and Crime Commissioner for Hampshire); and
 - 1.1.4 if the Parties are still unable to resolve the matter any of them may refer the matter for determination by the Secretary of State.
- 1.2 To initiate a mediation, a Party must give notice in writing ("ADR Notice") to the other Party requesting mediation in accordance with this **Schedule 4**. A copy of the request should be sent to the Centre for Dispute Resolution or its successor ("CEDR").
- 1.3 The procedure in the Model Procedure will be amended to take account of:
 - 1.3.1 any relevant provisions in this Agreement; and
 - any other additional agreement which the Parties may enter into in relation to the conduct of the mediation ("Mediation Agreement").
- 1.4 If there is any issue relating to the conduct of the mediation (including nomination of the mediator) upon which the Parties cannot agree within seven days from the date of the ADR Notice, CEDR will (at the request of either Party) decide that issue on behalf of the Police Bodies (having first consulted with them).
- 1.5 The mediation will start no later than 21 days after the date of the ADR Notice.
- 1.6 No Party shall commence court proceedings whilst the dispute resolution procedure pursuant to this **Schedule 4** is being applied.

Funding

It is agreed between the Parties that the funding for ACRO is diverse and that there are ongoing discussions in relation to the funding of ACRO. As at the Effective Date, the Parties agree that in relation to the Financial Year 2016/2017 each Policing Body shall be responsible for paying an amount equal to their respective FSS Allocation (which is set out in Table 2) in relation to the agreed funding to be provided by the Policing Bodies as set out in Table 1 below. The Parties agree that the Policing Bodies shall be required to pay the FSS Allocation of the future agreed budget of ACRO which is required to be paid by the Policing Bodies.

Table 1

Party	ACRO	ICCE	Total
Amount to be paid by Policing Bodies	£600,000.00	£2,225,000.00	£2,825,000.00

Table 2

Force	Percentage of Total (FSS Alocation)
Avon & Somerset	2.0%
Bedfordshire	0.8%
Cambridgeshire	0.9%
Cheshire	1.3%
City of London	0.2%
Cleveland	1.1%
Cumbria	0.7%
Derbyshire	1.2%
Devon & Cornwall	2.1%
Dorset	0.7%
Durham	1.0%
Dyfed-Powys	0.6%
Essex	2.0%
Gloucestershire	0.7%
Greater Manchester	5.0%
Gwent	0.9%
Hampshire	2.3%
Hertfordshire	1.3%
Humberside	1.4%
Kent	2.1%
Lancashire	2.2%
Leicestershire	1.3%
Lincolnshire	0.7%
Merseyside	2.9%
Metropolitan Police	21.8%
Norfolk	1.0%

North Wales	0.9%
North Yorkshire	0.8%
Northamptonshire	0.8%
Northumbria	2.8%
Nottinghamshire	1.5%
PSNI	6.1%
Scotland	5.3%
South Wales	2.0%
South Yorkshire	2.2%
Staffordshire	1.3%
Suffolk	0.8%
Surrey	1.1%
Sussex	1.9%
Thames Valley	2.6%
Warwickshire	0.6%
West Mercia	1.3%
West Midlands	5.3%
West Yorkshire	3.7%
Wiltshire	0.7%
Totals	100.0%

Totals by region	
England	84.3%
Wales	4.4%
PSNI	6.1%
Scotland	5.3%
England, Wales & NI	100.0%

	PSNI
value per formula used up to 2008/09	309.29

	Scotland
value per formula used up to 2008/09	309.29

Insurance



Risk Management Partners

020 7204 1800 www.rmpartners.co.uk

Date 17th June 2016

Reference: PEF

To Whom It May Concern

Risk Management Partners Ltd, in their capacity as agents of QBE Insurance Group can confirm cover provided under the following insurance policies for Hampshire Constabulary is extended to cover all of the activities of ACRO Criminal Records Office (ACRO) performed by Hampshire Constabulary as the host force, in accordance with the Section 22 Agreement in force for such services.

Insurance Period - 1st October 2015 to 30th September 2016

Public Liability/Employers Liability Insurance - Y082725QBE0115A

Motor Insurance - Y079872FLT0115A

For the avoidance of doubt, the services delivered under ACRO are held to include:

- In

NAVCIS - Vehicle Crime Intelligence Police Service NWCU - National Wildlife Crime Unit NPFDU - National Police freedom of information & Data Protection Unit

The information provided above is a summary and the policy should be referred to for the full details of cover if required.

Yours sincerely

Peter Fulthorpe

Account Director
Email: Peter.Fulthorpe@rmpartners.co.uk
Tel 07876 897 545

Communication Protocol

This Schedule sets out a protocol that ACRO and the host force and NPCC are required to observe in respect of communications.

- 1. National units are independent of the forces that host them. All national units have responsibility for and authority over their own communications.
- 2. The work of the national units links to the NPCC through its coordination committees/business areas as well as to the work of the College of Policing and the National Crime Agency (NCA).
- 2.1 National units will inform the NPCC Press Office of any communications issue, including media enquiries and proactive communications, that impacts on the work of those agencies.
- 2.2 National units will take into account advice from the NPCC Press Office about communications issues that relate to the work of the NPCC.
- 2.3 The NPCC Press Office will provide communications advice and support to national units where appropriate.
- 2.4 The NPCC Press Office will inform national units of any communications issues that they are dealing with that link to the work of that unit.
- 2.5 The NPCC Press Office will take into account advice from national units about communications issues that the NPCC are dealing with in relation to the work of that unit.

EXECUTION

AS WITNESS the hands of the duly authorised representatives of the Parties on the date stated at the beginning of this Agreement.

Signed by)
duly authorised to sign for and on behalf of)
THE CHIEF CONSTABLE OF AVON AND SOMERSET CONSTABULARY)
in the presence of:)
Witness signature:	
Name:	
Address:	
Occupation:	
SIGNED by)
duly authorised to sign for and on behalf of)
THE POLICE AND CRIME COMMISSIONER FOR AVON AND SOMERSET)
in the presence of:)
Witness signature:	
Name:	
Address:	
Occupation:	

SIGNED by)
duly authorised to sign for and on behalf of)
THE CHIEF CONSTABLE OF BEDFORDSHIRE POLICE)
in the presence of:)
Witness signature:	
Name:	
Address:	
Occupation:	
SIGNED by)
duly authorised to sign for and on behalf of)
THE POLICE AND CRIME COMMISSIONER FOR BEDFORDSHIRE)
in the presence of:)
Witness signature:	
Name:	
Address:	
Occupation:	

SIGNED by)
duly authorised to sign for and on behalf of)
THE CHIEF CONSTABLE OF CAMBRIDGESHIRE CONSTABULARY)
in the presence of:)
Witness signature:	
Name:	
Address:	
Occupation:	
SIGNED by)
duly authorised to sign for and on behalf of)
THE POLICE AND CRIME COMMISSIONER FOR CAMBRIDGESHIRE)
in the presence of:)
Witness signature:	
Name:	
Address:	
Occupation:	

SIGNED by)
duly authorised to sign for and on behalf of)
THE CHIEF CONSTABLE OF CHESHIRE CONSTABULARY)
in the presence of:)
Witness signature:	
Name:	
Address:	
Occupation:	
SIGNED by)
duly authorised to sign for and on behalf of)
THE POLICE AND CRIME COMMISSIONER FOR CHESHIRE)
in the presence of:)
Witness signature:	
Name:	
Address:	
Occupation:	

SIGNED by)
duly authorised to sign for and on behalf of)
THE COMMISSIONER OF POLICE FOR THE CITY OF LONDON)
in the presence of:)
Witness signature:	
Name:	
Address:	
Occupation:	
SIGNED by)
duly authorised to sign for and on behalf of)
THE COMMON COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF LONDON IN ITS CAPACITY)
AS POLICE AUTHORITY)
in the presence of:)
Witness signature:	
Name:	
Address:	
Occupation:	

SIGNED by)
duly authorised to sign for and on behalf of)
THE CHIEF CONSTABLE OF CLEVELAND)
in the presence of:)
Witness signature:	
Name:	
Address:	
Occupation:	
SIGNED by)
duly authorised to sign for and on behalf of)
THE POLICE AND CRIME COMMISSIONER FOR CLEVELAND)
in the presence of:)
Witness signature:	
Name:	
Address:	
Occupation:	

SIGNED by)
duly authorised to sign for and on behalf of)
THE CHIEF CONSTABLE OF CUMBRIA CONSTABULARY)
in the presence of:)
Witness signature:	
Name:	
Address:	
Occupation:	
SIGNED by)
duly authorised to sign for and on behalf of)
THE POLICE AND CRIME COMMISSIONER FOR CUMBRIA)
in the presence of:)
Witness signature:	
Name:	
Address:	
Occupation:	

SIGNED by)
duly authorised to sign for and on behalf of)
THE CHIEF CONSTABLE OF DERBYSHIRE CONSTABULARY)
in the presence of:)
Witness signature:	
Name:	
Address:	
Occupation:	
SIGNED by)
duly authorised to sign for and on behalf of)
THE POLICE AND CRIME COMMISSIONER FOR DERBYSHIRE)
in the presence of:)
Witness signature:	
Name:	
Address:	
Occupation:	

SIGNED by)	
duly authorised to sign for and on behalf of)	
THE CHIEF CONSTABLE OF DEVON AND CORNWALL POLICE)	
in the presence of:	
Witness signature:	
Name:	
Address:	
Occupation:	
SIGNED by)
duly authorised to sign for and on behalf of)
THE POLICE AND CRIME COMMISSIONER FOR DEVON AND CORNWALL	-)
in the presence of:)
Witness signature:	
Name:	
Address:	
Occupation:	

SIGNED by)
duly authorised to sign for and on behalf of)
THE CHIEF CONSTABLE OF DORSET POLICE)
in the presence of:)
Witness signature:	
Name:	
Address:	
Occupation:	
SIGNED by)
duly authorised to sign for and on behalf of)
THE POLICE AND CRIME COMMISSIONER FOR DORSET)
in the presence of:)
Witness signature:	
Name:	
Address:	
Occupation:	

SIGNED by)
duly authorised to sign for and on behalf of)
THE CHIEF CONSTABLE OF DURHAM CONSTABULARY)
in the presence of:)
Witness signature:	
Name:	
Address:	
Occupation:	
SIGNED by)
duly authorised to sign for and on behalf of)
THE POLICE AND CRIME COMMISSIONER FOR DURHAM)
in the presence of:)
Witness signature:	
Name:	
Address:	
Occupation:	

SIGNED by)
duly authorised to sign for and on behalf of)
THE CHIEF CONSTABLE OF DYFED-POWYS POLICE)
in the presence of:)
Witness signature:	
Name:	
Address:	
Occupation:	
SIGNED by)
duly authorised to sign for and on behalf of)
THE POLICE AND CRIME COMMISSIONER FOR DYFED-POWYS)
in the presence of:)
Witness signature:	
Name:	
Address:	
Occupation:	

SIGNED by)
duly authorised to sign for and on behalf of)
THE CHIEF CONSTABLE OF ESSEX POLICE)
in the presence of:)
Witness signature:	
Name:	
Address:	
Occupation:	
SIGNED by)
duly authorised to sign for and on behalf of)
THE POLICE AND CRIME COMMISSIONER FOR ESSEX)
in the presence of:)
Witness signature:	
Name:	
Address:	
Occupation:	

SIGNED by)
duly authorised to sign for and on behalf of)
THE CHIEF CONSTABLE OF GLOUCESTERSHIRE CONSTABULARY)
in the presence of:)
Witness signature:	
Name:	
Address:	
Occupation:	
SIGNED by)
duly authorised to sign for and on behalf of)
THE POLICE AND CRIME COMMISSIONER FOR GLOUCESTERSHIRE)
in the presence of:)
Witness signature:	
Name:	
Address:	
Occupation:	

SIGNED by)
duly authorised to sign for and on behalf of)
THE CHIEF CONSTABLE OF GREATER MANCHESTER POLICE)
in the presence of:)
Witness signature:	
Name:	
Address:	
Occupation:	
SIGNED by)
duly authorised to sign for and on behalf of)
THE POLICE AND CRIME COMMISSIONER FOR GREATER MANCHESTER)
in the presence of:)
Witness signature:	
Name:	
Address:	
Occupation:	

SIGNED by)
duly authorised to sign for and on behalf of)
THE CHIEF CONSTABLE OF GWENT POLICE)
in the presence of:)
Witness signature:	
Name:	
Address:	
Occupation:	
SIGNED by)
duly authorised to sign for and on behalf of)
THE POLICE AND CRIME COMMISSIONER FOR GWENT)
in the presence of:)
Witness signature:	
Name:	
Address:	
Occupation:	

SIGNED by)
duly authorised to sign for and on behalf of)
THE CHIEF CONSTABLE OF HAMPSHIRE CONSTABULARY)
in the presence of:)
Witness signature:	
Name:	
Address:	
Occupation:	
SIGNED by)
duly authorised to sign for and on behalf of)
THE POLICE AND CRIME COMMISSIONER FOR HAMPSHIRE)
in the presence of:)
Witness signature:	
Name:	
Address:	
Occupation:	

SIGNED by)
duly authorised to sign for and on behalf of)
THE CHIEF CONSTABLE OF HERTFORDSHIRE CONSTABULARY)
in the presence of:)
Witness signature:	
Name:	
Address:	
Occupation:	
SIGNED by)
duly authorised to sign for and on behalf of)
THE POLICE AND CRIME COMMISSIONER FOR HERTFORDSHIRE)
in the presence of:)
Witness signature:	
Name:	
Address:	
Occupation:	

SIGNED by)
duly authorised to sign for and on behalf of)
THE CHIEF CONSTABLE OF HUMBERSIDE POLICE)
in the presence of:)
Witness signature:	
Name:	
Address:	
Occupation:	
SIGNED by)
duly authorised to sign for and on behalf of)
THE POLICE AND CRIME COMMISSIONER FOR HUMBERSIDE)
in the presence of:)
Witness signature:	
Name:	
Address:	
Occupation:	

SIGNED by)
duly authorised to sign for and on behalf of)
THE CHIEF CONSTABLE OF KENT POLICE)
in the presence of:)
Witness signature:	
Name:	
Address:	
Occupation:	
SIGNED by)
duly authorised to sign for and on behalf of)
THE POLICE AND CRIME COMMISSIONER FOR KENT)
in the presence of:)
Witness signature:	
Name:	
Address:	
Occupation:	

SIGNED by)
duly authorised to sign for and on behalf of)
THE CHIEF CONSTABLE OF LANCASHIRE CONSTABULARY)
in the presence of:)
Witness signature:	
Name:	
Address:	
Occupation:	
SIGNED by)
duly authorised to sign for and on behalf of)
THE POLICE AND CRIME COMMISSIONER FOR LANCASHIRE)
in the presence of:)
Witness signature:	
Name:	
Address:	
Occupation:	

SIGNED by)
duly authorised to sign for and on behalf of)
THE CHIEF CONSTABLE OF LEICESTERSHIRE POLICE)
in the presence of:)
Witness signature:	
Name:	
Address:	
Occupation:	
SIGNED by)
duly authorised to sign for and on behalf of)
THE POLICE AND CRIME COMMISSIONER FOR LEICESTERSHIRE)
in the presence of:)
Witness signature:	
Name:	
Address:	
Occupation:	

SIGNED by)
duly authorised to sign for and on behalf of)
THE CHIEF CONSTABLE OF LINCOLNSHIRE POLICE)
in the presence of:)
Witness signature:	
Name:	
Address:	
Occupation:	
SIGNED by)
duly authorised to sign for and on behalf of)
THE POLICE AND CRIME COMMISSIONER FOR LINCOLNSHIRE)
in the presence of:)
Witness signature:	
Name:	
Address:	
Occupation:	

SIGNED by)
duly authorised to sign for and on behalf of)
THE CHIEF CONSTABLE OF MERSEYSIDE POLICE)
in the presence of:)
Witness signature:	
Name:	
Address:	
Occupation:	
SIGNED by)
duly authorised to sign for and on behalf of)
THE POLICE AND CRIME COMMISSIONER FOR MERSEYSIDE)
in the presence of:)
Witness signature:	
Name:	
Address:	
Occupation:	

SIGNED by)
duly authorised to sign for and on behalf of)
THE COMMISSIONER OF POLICE OF THE METROPOLIS)
in the presence of:)
Witness signature:	
Name:	
Address:	
Occupation:	
SIGNED by)
duly authorised to sign for and on behalf of)
THE MAYOR'S OFFICE FOR POLICING AND CRIME)
in the presence of:)
Witness signature:	
Name:	
Address:	
Occupation:	

SIGNED by)
duly authorised to sign for and on behalf of)
THE CHIEF CONSTABLE OF NORFOLK CONSTABULARY)
in the presence of:)
Witness signature:	
Name:	
Address:	
Occupation:	
SIGNED by)
duly authorised to sign for and on behalf of)
THE POLICE AND CRIME COMMISSIONER FOR NORFOLK)
in the presence of:)
Witness signature:	
Name:	
Address:	
Occupation:	

SIGNED by)
duly authorised to sign for and on behalf of)
THE CHIEF CONSTABLE OF NORTH WALES POLICE)
in the presence of:)
Witness signature:	
Name:	
Address:	
Occupation:	
SIGNED by)
duly authorised to sign for and on behalf of)
THE POLICE AND CRIME COMMISSIONER FOR NORTH WALES)
in the presence of:)
Witness signature:	
Name:	
Address:	
Occupation:	

SIGNED by)
duly authorised to sign for and on behalf of)
THE CHIEF CONSTABLE OF NORTH YORKSHIRE POLICE)
in the presence of:)
Witness signature:	
Name:	
Address:	
Occupation:	
SIGNED by)
duly authorised to sign for and on behalf of)
THE POLICE AND CRIME COMMISSIONER FOR NORTH YORKSHIRE)
in the presence of:)
Witness signature:	
Name:	
Address:	
Occupation:	

SIGNED by)
duly authorised to sign for and on behalf of)
THE CHIEF CONSTABLE OF NORTHAMPTONSHIRE POLICE)
in the presence of:)
Witness signature:	
Name:	
Address:	
Occupation:	
SIGNED by)
duly authorised to sign for and on behalf of)
THE POLICE AND CRIME COMMISSIONER FOR NORTHAMPTONSHIRE)
in the presence of:)
Witness signature:	
Name:	
Address:	
Occupation:	

SIGNED by)
duly authorised to sign for and on behalf of)
THE CHIEF CONSTABLE OF NORTHUMBRIA POLICE)
in the presence of:)
Witness signature:	
Name:	
Address:	
Occupation:	
SIGNED by)
duly authorised to sign for and on behalf of)
THE POLICE AND CRIME COMMISSIONER FOR NORTHUMBRIA)
in the presence of:)
Witness signature:	
Name:	
Address:	
Occupation:	

SIGNED by)
duly authorised to sign for and on behalf of)
THE CHIEF CONSTABLE OF NOTTINGHAMSHIRE POLICE)
in the presence of:)
Witness signature:	
Name:	
Address:	
Occupation:	
SIGNED by)
duly authorised to sign for and on behalf of)
THE POLICE AND CRIME COMMISSIONER FOR NOTTINGHAMSHIRE)
in the presence of:)
Witness signature:	
Name:	
Address:	
Occupation:	

SIGNED by)
duly authorised to sign for and on behalf of)
THE CHIEF CONSTABLE OF SOUTH WALES POLICE)
in the presence of:)
Witness signature:	
Name:	
Address:	
Occupation:	
SIGNED by)
duly authorised to sign for and on behalf of)
THE POLICE AND CRIME COMMISSIONER FOR SOUTH WALES)
in the presence of:)
Witness signature:	
Name:	
Address:	
Occupation:	

SIGNED by)
duly authorised to sign for and on behalf of)
THE CHIEF CONSTABLE OF SOUTH YORKSHIRE POLICE)
in the presence of:)
Witness signature:	
Name:	
Address:	
Occupation:	
SIGNED by)
duly authorised to sign for and on behalf of)
THE POLICE AND CRIME COMMISSIONER FOR SOUTH YORKSHIRE)
in the presence of:)
Witness signature:	
Name:	
Address:	
Occupation:	

SIGNED by)
duly authorised to sign for and on behalf of)
THE CHIEF CONSTABLE OF STAFFORDSHIRE POLICE)
in the presence of:)
Witness signature:	
Name:	
Address:	
Occupation:	
SIGNED by)
duly authorised to sign for and on behalf of)
THE POLICE AND CRIME COMMISSIONER FOR STAFFORDSHIRE)
in the presence of:)
Witness signature:	
Name:	
Address:	
Occupation:	

SIGNED by)
duly authorised to sign for and on behalf of)
THE CHIEF CONSTABLE OF SUFFOLK CONSTABULARY)
in the presence of:)
Witness signature:	
Name:	
Address:	
Occupation:	
SIGNED by)
duly authorised to sign for and on behalf of)
THE POLICE AND CRIME COMMISSIONER FOR SUFFOLK)
in the presence of:)
Witness signature:	
Name:	
Address:	
Occupation:	

SIGNED by)
duly authorised to sign for and on behalf of)
THE CHIEF CONSTABLE OF SURREY POLICE)
in the presence of:)
Witness signature:	
Name:	
Address:	
Occupation:	
SIGNED by)
duly authorised to sign for and on behalf of)
THE POLICE AND CRIME COMMISSIONER FOR SURREY)
in the presence of:)
Witness signature:	
Name:	
Address:	
Occupation:	

SIGNED by)
duly authorised to sign for and on behalf of)
THE CHIEF CONSTABLE OF SUSSEX POLICE)
in the presence of:)
Witness signature:	
Name:	
Address:	
Occupation:	
SIGNED by)
duly authorised to sign for and on behalf of)
THE POLICE AND CRIME COMMISSIONER FOR SUSSEX)
in the presence of:)
Witness signature:	
Name:	
Address:	
Occupation:	

SIGNED by)
duly authorised to sign for and on behalf of)
THE CHIEF CONSTABLE OF THAMES VALLEY POLICE)
in the presence of:)
Witness signature:	
Name:	
Address:	
Occupation:	
SIGNED by)
duly authorised to sign for and on behalf of)
THE POLICE AND CRIME COMMISSIONER FOR THAMES VALLEY)
in the presence of:)
Witness signature:	
Name:	
Address:	
Occupation:	

SIGNED by)
duly authorised to sign for and on behalf of)
THE CHIEF CONSTABLE OF WARWICKSHIRE POLICE)
in the presence of:)
Witness signature:	
Name:	
Address:	
Occupation:	
SIGNED by)
duly authorised to sign for and on behalf of)
THE POLICE AND CRIME COMMISSIONER FOR WARWICKSHIRE)
in the presence of:)
Witness signature:	
Name:	
Address:	
Occupation:	

SIGNED by)
duly authorised to sign for and on behalf of)
THE CHIEF CONSTABLE OF WEST MERCIA POLICE)
in the presence of:)
Witness signature:	
Name:	
Address:	
Occupation:	
SIGNED by)
duly authorised to sign for and on behalf of)
THE POLICE AND CRIME COMMISSIONER FOR WEST MERCIA)
in the presence of:)
Witness signature:	
Name:	
Address:	
Occupation:	

SIGNED by)
duly authorised to sign for and on behalf of)
THE CHIEF CONSTABLE OF WEST MIDLANDS POLICE)
in the presence of:)
Witness signature:	
Name:	
Address:	
Occupation:	
SIGNED by)
duly authorised to sign for and on behalf of)
THE POLICE AND CRIME COMMISSIONER FOR WEST MIDLANDS)
in the presence of:)
Witness signature:	
Name:	
Address:	
Occupation:	

SIGNED by)
duly authorised to sign for and on behalf of)
THE CHIEF CONSTABLE OF WEST YORKSHIRE POLICE)
in the presence of:)
Witness signature:	
Name:	
Address:	
Occupation:	
SIGNED by)
duly authorised to sign for and on behalf of)
THE POLICE AND CRIME COMMISSIONER FOR WEST YORKSHIRE)
in the presence of:)
Witness signature:	
Name:	
Address:	
Occupation:	

SIGNED by)
duly authorised to sign for and on behalf of)
THE CHIEF CONSTABLE OF WILTSHIRE POLICE)
in the presence of:)
Witness signature:	
Name:	
Address:	
Occupation:	
SIGNED by)
duly authorised to sign for and on behalf of)
THE POLICE AND CRIME COMMISSIONER FOR WILTSHIRE)
in the presence of:)
Witness signature:	
Name:	
Address:	
Occupation:	